
 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
TUESDAY MARCH 18, 2025 
 
7:30 PM REGULAR MEETING 
 
1. Call to Order 
   
2. Roll Call 
 
3. Approval of Minutes: 

a. February 18, 2025, Planning Commission Meeting Minutes. 
b. March 4, 2025, City Council Meeting Minutes (For Information Only). 

 
4. PUBLIC HEARING: Buell Consulting, LLC – on behalf of Verizon (Applicant) and Larry 

and Susan Vensel (Owner) requests that the City consider the following action for the 
property located at 87 McCulley Rd., Independence, MN (PID No. 36-118-24-44-0009): 
 

a. A Conditional Use Permit to allow a new telecommunications tower on the subject 
property. 
 

b. Site plan review and conditional use permit to allow a new 180-foot-tall 
telecommunications tower on the subject property.   
 

5. PUBLIC HEARING: Christine Parr (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the 
following action for the Property located at 3850 County Line Road Independence, MN (PID 
No. 07-118-24-22-0006): 

 
a. An interim use permit (IUP) to allow a non-commercial kennel (five personal dogs) 

on the subject property.   
 

6. Open/Misc. 
 
7. Adjourn. 



 

City of Independence  1 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

MINUTES OF A MEETING OF THE 
INDEPENDENCE PLANNING COMMISSION  
TUESDAY, FEBRUARY 18, 2025, AT 7:30 PM 

 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a work session of the Independence Planning Commission was 
called to order by Chair Gardner at 7:30 p.m. 

 
2. ROLL CALL:	

 
PRESENT: Commissioners Gardner (Chair), Thompson, Volkenant, Dumas, & Alternate Usset (vote 

counted in Tearse’ absence). 
ABSENT: Tearse and Alternate Story. 
STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Administrative Services Director Simon 
VISITORS: See Sign-In Sheet 

 
 
3. Approval of Minutes: 

 
a. January 21, 2025, Planning Commission Meeting Minutes. 
b. February 4, 2025, City Council Meeting Minutes (For Information Only). 

 

Motion by Thompson, seconded by Volkenant to approve the minutes.  Ayes: Gardner, 
Thompson, Volkenant, Dumas, and Usset. Nays: None. Absent: Tearse and Story. Abstain: 
None. Motion Approved. 5-0 
 

4. PUBLIC HEARING: A proposed text amendment to the City of Independence Ordinance as follows: 
  

a. A text amendment to Chapter V, Sections 510 and 530 of the city’s zoning ordinance relating to 
regulations governing cannabis businesses.  The ordinance amendment will consider 
establishment of regulations pertaining to the definitions associated with a cannabis business and 
the permitted zoning district and associated standards. 
 

 
Discussion: 
On July 31, the Office of Cannabis Management issued the first draft of its administrative rules related to 
adult-use cannabis in Minnesota – the language can be found at the following link. The section on local 
government control is sparce and only provides clarification related to the registration process. 
 
Under the Cannabis Act, cities generally maintain their ability to enact zoning regulations with two 
primary limitations: (1) the City may not prohibit the establishment or operation of a cannabis or hemp 
business licensed by the OCM; and (2) the Legislature has established a maximum buffer from certain 
uses. Cities will retain the ability to enact zoning ordinances even if it consents to have the county issue 
registrations (City Council may consider a registration requirement). 
 



 

City of Independence  2 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

The City can amend its zoning code to specifically allow each business type in a particular district or it can 
choose to simply allow cannabis businesses in zones with similar uses (e.g., retailers in commercial zones 
with other retail). Staff has reviewed the current zoning districts within the city and drafted an ordinance 
amendment for further consideration by the Planning Commission.  Attached to this report are the draft 
zoning and registration ordinances (registration ordinance for information only). The following 
summarizes the key elements of the proposed draft ordinance amendment: 
 
 

• The city can determine which types of cannabis businesses can be in which zoning 
districts of the city. Staff has reviewed the various uses and recommends that all 
cannabis uses are considered as conditional uses within their respective zoning 
districts. The following is a comprehensive table of the types of uses and their 
proposed allowable zoning district in the city. Staff prepared this for an initial 
discussion only and will be seeking Planning Commission feedback relating to the 
various uses and allowed zoning districts. 

• Low Potency Hemp edible retailers (i.e., tobacco or smoke shops, liquor stores selling 
infused drinks) would be permitted only within the CLI – Commercial Light Industrial 
zone and limited in number to three (3) (see attached zoning map). The city could also 
consider limiting these uses to the UC-Urban Commercial zoning district near the 
County border. Staff will be seeking consideration and discussion relating to possible 
zoning districts. 

 
• All other cannabis businesses are permitted only within the MU-BRLI, Subzone C 

zoning district (see attached zoning map). The city could also consider limiting these 
uses to the UC-Urban Commercial zoning district near the County border. Staff will be 
seeking consideration and discussion relating to possible zoning districts. 

 
• Cannabis retailers, Cannabis Microbusinesses, Cannabis Mezzobusiness, and 

Medical Cannabis Retailer are limited to one (1) for the entire city (cities less than 
12,500 can limit to 1). 

 
• All cannabis business (including low potency hemp) are conditional uses. 

 
o The city can add additional conditions within the CUP portion of the ordinance 

if more restrictions are reasonable. Staff is seeking additional direction relating 
to the additional conditions from the Planning Commission. 

 
• A local unit of government may prohibit the operation of a cannabis business 

within (maximum buffer distance allowed): 
 

o 1,000 feet of a school; or 
 

o 500 feet of a day care, residential treatment facility, or an attraction within a 
public park that is regularly used by minors, including a playground or 
athletic field. 

 
The terms school, day care, residential treatment facility, and attraction within a public 
park that is regularly used by minors, including a playground or athletic field are not 
further defined in statute or administrative rule, so the city has some discretion in 



 

City of Independence  3 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

defining these terms. The OCM guide includes some definitions that were drafted for the 
OCM’s model ordinance (which is different than the administrative rules). 

 
The city has prepared a map showing only the 500’ draft buffer boundary from the 
Pioneer Creek Community Park – this is the only park that would intersect with 
possible areas (CLI) zoned for cannabis businesses (see attached). Staff will seek 
Planning Commission direction relating to the prescribed buffers. 
 

• As noted above, it is anticipated that the City Council will consider adding a 
registration requirement to all cannabis businesses as provided below. This ordinance 
amendment is outside of the subdivision and zoning regulations and is not part of the 
Planning Commissions review authority. 
 

o The OCM reviews, approves, and issues cannabis business licenses. However, 
each retail business must also register with the city in which it will operate, 
unless the city has consented to the county issuing registrations on its behalf. A 
registration fee can be imposed in addition to the state license fee. 

 
o The registration process involves issuing a registration to a retail business that: 

(1) has a valid license issued by the OCM; (2) has paid the registration fee or 
renewal fee (if applicable); (3) is found to be in compliance with the 
requirements of the Cannabis Act at any preliminary compliance check; and (4) 
if applicable, is current on all property taxes and assessments. 

 
Summary: 
Staff will be seeking feedback and direction from the Planning Commission relating to the materials 
presented within this report. Based on feedback and direction provided, the draft ordinance can be 
recommended to the City Council for consideration. 
 
 
Kaltsas - Because we can’t prohibit, we have to include Cannabis as a definition and prescribe where they 
are allowed to go. We can’t say we don’t allow them at all. Office of Cannabis Management/OCM doesn’t 
have their process finalized, so a lot of cities have been waiting. We need to adopt, but we can change or 
amend. We need to do something to be compliant. Independence is somewhat different. We have limited 
commercial areas and huge land areas.  
 
We took the different types of businesses that have been identified by the State relating to cannabis use, and 
those are listed in the table that's in the staff report. Those are Cannabis Retailer, Medical Cannabis Retailer, 
Cannabis Delivery Service, Low Potency Hemp Retailer, Cannabis Cultivator, Medical Cannabis Cultivator, 
Cannabis Event Organizer, Cannabis Manufacturer Medical Cannabis Manufacturer, Low-Potency Hemp 
Edible Manufacturer, Cannabis Testing, Cannabis Wholesaler. Cannabis Transporter, Medical Combination 
Business, Cannabis Mezzobusiness, and Cannabis Microbusiness. We took the state definitions. We are 
suggesting that we adopt those definitions for each of those various businesses within the ordinance.  
 
We can limit the number of certain types of businesses like Low Potency Hemp. Due to our city’s 
population being less than 12,500, we can limit the number of users to a minimum of (3), and for businesses 
that are either a Cannabis Retailer, Cannabis Microbusiness, Cannabis, Mezzobusiness, or a Medical 
Cannabis Retailer (our full potency retail businesses), we can limit it to (1).  
 



 

City of Independence  4 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

Lastly, we can establish buffer zones similar to ones we’ve established for Predatory Offenders. You can 
establish buffer zones that are 1,000 ft from schools or 500 ft from daycares, residential treatment facility, or 
an attraction within a public park that is regularly used by minors, including playgrounds or athletic fields. 
Recommending Cannabis Business only be permitted in zoning districts and are done as Conditional Use 
Permits/ CUPs. We may not need that in the future, but we don’t yet know what these will look like or their 
impacts. One use out of all of this with likelihood is the Lower Potency Hemp Retailer, like liquor stores or 
tobacco shops. We do get calls about tobacco shops near County Rd 90 and Hwy 12. Some of the high 
potency businesses, the State does them by lottery and require getting a license. You can’t just open one. 
The buffer from the park – 500ft.  
 
 
Dumas – (looking at the map) Regarding lot lines – Is the rule you can’t be in the gray but if in the blue you 
would be ok?  
Kaltsas – Technically it’s 500ft from the building to the edge of the property.  
Volkenant – Buffer has to be500ft from residential property? That’s a huge chunk.  
Kaltsas – We have carved it out. In Maple Plain they thought would be in a Mixed Used Gateway District 
where the old Food Mart is behind the bank is a park. “500ft from all parks with exception of south line of 
Meadow Park.” If we wanted to do something similar, we could craft it to be 500ft from NW and SW lines 
of the park and not whatever else.  
Thompson – Why not Commercial/Light Industrial/CLI and Urban Commercial/UC? 
Kaltsas – Urban Commercial/UC may be a good spot too. We did approve a retail space out there. 
Developer is planning on building that now.  
Thompson – Agricultural/AG district isn’t appropriate.  
Kaltsas – We aren’t talking field crop. We do have a lot of AG buildings. If we allowed it in AG district, we 
have to be very careful because you could get someone to buy farm and grow in large buildings. It’s indoor 
production.  
Thompson - Not all AG is created equal.  
Dumas – If you put it in Commercial, it won’t be very much.  Are there any Tax ramifications? Is there a tax 
revenue for us at all? 
Kaltsas – That’s a whole other subject. Nominal licenses. No one knows how we are getting revenue from 
this yet. A lot of it is cash business and revenue hasn’t happened yet. Cities don’t get local sales tax. All 
regulated by the state. Licenses of $500 is all we can charge.  
Thompson – Language matters – I would call out the list – City Attorney to look into this to not have 1 of 
each type. The language in here regulated used by minors. What counts to establish those boundaries? 
Kaltsas – public park is broad.  
Thompson – It says a foreign item in park but not park itself.  
Kaltsas – The interpretation now says public park. I can have the City Attorney weigh in.  
Thompson – Baker Park that is huge, but the playground and campsite are small for that 500 ft buffer. 
Regarding Districts – AG would be crazy. Why not both UC and CLI districts? The smallest district and 
furthest away is Urban Commercial/UC.  
Dumas – Are we interested in tracking these or not? 
Gardner – Not for $500.  
Usset – CLI. I have small children. There’s nothing to say that it can’t go in eventually.  
Gardner - There’s no retail in Independence.  
Kaltsas – Tobacco isn’t expressly permitted. We don’t have to allow that to be a use, but we do have to for 
Cannabis. If you think about land use regulation, we can regulate anything, but we can’t get away from 
allowing this.  
Thompson – Do you think there is heat taken if we go back and say there is a little district on the edge of the 
city that nothing is in it?  



 

City of Independence  5 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

Kaltsas – Every city did that initially. Urban Commercial/UC is 60 or 75 acres of land you can buy, build, 
open. You could separate them. Maple Plain put Low Potency Hemp Edible on the highway and then others 
in commercial areas. Do you want a tobacco shop?  
Thompson – No retail shop right by the park. Why does there need to be a buffer?  
Kaltsas – We can include the recommendation to not include the max buffer.  
Volkenant – What if you have people that want to produce in an AG area and use the horse complex to 
convert it to production?  
Thompson – You can if we don’t say it’s an CUP. If our unit of measure is zoning district, you are either 
turning AG on or off. You are proposing turning AG on.  
Dumas – I don’t see a benefit to the city growing this all over the city.  
Kaltsas – Cannabis is regulated. We can allow Hemp under crop, and we don’t have a regulation against that 
right now. We are talking about hemp with a THC potency. Those are not being grown in fields, but hemp is 
being grown for sure. No, THC is not regulated under this.  
Thompson – If someone in AG is growing hemp, can he do that? Would it be CUP, amendment? 
Kaltsas – It is permitted because our AG list is other things like AG. It can be used for ropes, sweaters, etc. 
Thompson – Just not Potent Cannabis.  
Volkenant – There are so many restrictions. Taking an indoor arena and turned it into a growing facility and 
you would never know. It’s not impossible.  
Thompson – Do we add AG to the list of non-retail? I don’t see a reason to do that.  
Kaltsas – We do allow retail sales of AG grown on the premises.  
Dumas – I’d be ok to start small and expand later 
Volkenant – Allowing a CUP for business, isn’t that setting a precedence?  
Kaltsas – CUP within the CLI & UC like Auto repair and auto sales is a CUP. CUP would be the way to do 
it because we don’t know what it all looks like- employees, security, parking, etc.  
Thompson – You’d mentioned Iron Exchange. What about Ox Yoke and Windsong? 
Kaltsas- They fall into the Retail. If they sold it today, they’d be grandfathered but not into the number of 
licenses though. These are Off-Sale liquor licenses which differ from On-Sale ones. 
Thompson – Are we all aligned on the limited Low Potency to 3 and larger Retail to 1 based on our 
population? 
Kaltsas – Changes to increase the number of licenses can happen later if the City decides that. 
 
Motion by Thompson, seconded by Usset recommending amendment changes to Sections 510 and 530 
pertaining to regulations to governing cannabis business allowing Planning Commission feedback for  
Retail types as designated to be Urban Commercial/UC only and the balance of the license types to be 
both Commercial Light Industrial/CLI and Urban Commercial/UC limiting Low Potency Hemp to (3) 
locations with the City- Retailers, Micro and Mezzo businesses as well as Medical Retailer limited to 
(1), and elimination of the buffer zone around Pioneer Park as no retail is present, and have the City 
Attorney to review the language. Ayes: Gardner, Thompson, Volkenant, Dumas, & Alternate Usset. 
Nays: None. Absent: Tearse & Story. Abstain: None. Motion Approved. 5-0 
 
  
6. Open/Misc. 
 

City Council authorized our City Engineer to do a study for water for Hilltop property SW of Maple 
Plain. We approved CompPlan with that being Low Density and MetCouncil will extend pipe to help. 
Maple Plain discussed water, and their Engineer said we may not have enough for both our plans and 
selling it to others- how much we could sell. So, there’s a little setback. The Developer is going to pay 
for a water feasibility study. 2 things: We are going to review with Maple Plain permission, their system 



 

City of Independence  6 
Planning Commission Meeting Minutes 
7:30 pm February 18, 2025 
 

to expanded, improved, enhanced, and secondly, what it would look like to develop our own system?  

Dumas- Would we have to put in a treatment plant? 

Kaltsas – We would have to have something. If Independence has their own, it could just be storage and 
chemical treatment but not full water treatment. What does it look like for well and tower system and 
what does it cost for both?  

 

7. Adjourn. 
 
Motion by Thompson, seconded Volkenant by to adjourn.  

 
 
Meeting adjourned at 8:21 p.m. 

 
_____________________________ 
Respectfully Submitted, 
Linda Johnson/ Recording Secretary 
 



 
City of Independence 1 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

MINUTES OF A REGULAR MEETING OF 
THE INDEPENDENCE CITY COUNCIL 
TUESDAY, MARCH 4, 2025 – 6:30 P.M. 

City Hall Chambers 
 

1. CALL TO ORDER 
Pursuant to due call and notice thereof, a regular meeting of the Independence City Council was 
called to order by Mayor Spencer at 6:30 p.m.  
 

2. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 
Mayor Spencer led the group in the Pledge of Allegiance. 
 
3. ROLL CALL 
PRESENT: Spencer, Betts, McCoy 
ABSENT:   Grotting, Fisher 
STAFF: City Administrator Kaltsas, Administrative Services Director Simon, Public Works 

Supervisor Ben Lehman   
VISITORS:  City Attorney Vose, Bill Stoddard, Bob Topp. 
 

 
4. ****CONSENT AGENDA**** 
All items listed under Consent Agenda are considered to be routine by Council and will be acted on 
by one motion. There will be no separate discussion of these items. If discussion is desired, that item 
will be removed from the Consent Agenda and will be considered separately. 

 
a. Approval of City Council Minutes from the February 18, 2025, Regular City 

Council Meeting. 
b. Approval of Accounts Payable; (Batch #1 - Checks No. 23460-23465, Batch #2 - Checks 

No. 23466-23480, Batch #3 - Checks No. 23481-23494 and Batch #4 - Checks No. 
23495-23505).). 

c. Approval of annual liquor/tobacco license renewals for the following establishments: 
i. Ox Yoke Inn - Off Sale, On Sale and Sunday License 

ii. Windsong Farm Golf Club LLC - Off Sale, On Sale, Sunday and Tobacco License 
iii. Pioneer Creek Golf LLC - On Sale and Sunday License 

d. Approval of a Temporary Gambling Permit – Orono Baseball Association Event on 
May 4, 2025. 
 

Motion by Betts, seconded by McCoy to approve the Consent Agenda. Ayes: Spencer, Betts, 
and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION DECLARED 
CARRIED. 3-0  
 

 
5. Set Agenda – Anyone Not on the Agenda can be Placed Under Open/Misc. 

 
6. Reports of Boards and Committees by Council and Staff. 

 
Betts – None  



 
City of Independence 2 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

McCoy – None 
Spencer attended the following meetings:   

• League of Minnesota Cities/LMC Experience Conference 
• lunch with Marvin 
• met with Joe Baker and a resident about wetland violation  

 
Simon – None 
Kaltsas – None  
 

 
7. PUBLIC HEARING: City Council Consideration of the City’s Street Reconstruction Plan for the 

years 2025-2029 (the “Plan”) and the issuance of general obligation street reconstruction bonds in an 
estimated aggregate principal amount not to exceed $2,000,000 (the “Bonds”). 

 
 
Tammy – Northland Public Finance serving as an advisor. In order to issue general obligation bonds for the 
street reconstruction plan, you must have specific authority. When there are no assessments or when less than 
20%, in order to issue street reconstruction bonds, you must hold Public Hearing (doing tonight), then a 
resolution, and must not to exceed $2 million but no more than that without having another Public Hearing. 
This resolution is subject to reverse referendum and was published in the paper. Voters would have 30 days to 
file petition and would require 5% of previous municipal election to call it to a vote. Tonight is about taking 
action related to authority to issue bonds up to $2 million.  Later there will be another council meeting about 
the sale of bonds. 
 
Kaltsas – We’re working on those plans trying to find the exact amount and figuring out what the bid looks 
like. We have made it known that we will be doing bids and reached out to a few. This is unique, not many 
cities go out for 50,000 tons of gravel road. Lots of cities do bituminous. We feel good about bidding 
environment to initiate that bid with an award at end of April/early May aiming for the $1.8-2 million mark. 
 
Public Hearing Opened 
 
McCoy seconded by Betts to close Public Hearing. Ayes: Spencer, Betts, and McCoy. Nays: None. 
Absent: Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 3-0 
 
 

a. RESOLUTION No. 25-0304-01 – Approving the City’s 2025-2029 Street Reconstruction 
Plan. 

 
Motion by Spencer, seconded by McCoy to approve Resolution 25-0304-01 approving a street 
reconstruction plan and authorizing the issuance of general obligation street reconstruction bonds. 
Ayes: Spencer, Betts, and McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION 
DECLARED CARRIED. 3-0  
 

8. A proposed text amendment to the City of Independence Ordinance as follows: 
  

Kaltsas – This comes to Council after being considered by Planning Commission and recommended for 
approval to Council. There are two pieces of this. Rules were drafted last summer, provided parameters to 
regulations to businesses. Cities have authority with zoning regulations (where they’re allowed within the 



 
City of Independence 3 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

city) and ordinances for registration of cannabis businesses. We have ability to adopt or leave the 
authority to the county (Hennepin). We are recommending authority be maintained by the City. The 
ordinance for zoning was discussed by Planning Commission but they did not review cannabis business 
registration as that authority is outside their role and is the City Council’s. For Land use: We can’t 
prohibit, however we can regulate which parts of the city by zoning they can go to. We can have buffers 
around certain land uses. The City looked at land uses that we have guided by the Comprehensive Plan, 
and Planning Commission reviewed all cannabis uses being regulated by Cannabis Management (listed in 
table and in the ordinance as Definitions). Types of uses are Retail, Non-retail Uses, Lower Potency 
Hemp Retailers, and Full Potency Hemp Retailers.  Low Potency Hemp Retailers (no more than 5mg 
THC) would be seen as a tobacco shop, brewery with infused seltzer or beer, etc., & liquor store 
(infused/edible), these are more common. Low Potency, Full Potency Retail (medical retail, medial 
dispensary, cannabis retailer), and Mezzobusinesses & Microbusinesses (both cultivate, retail). Planning 
Commission suggested limiting all cannabis retail to the Urban Commercial/UC zoning district (the 
approximately 60 acres at the intersection of County Line Rd and Hwy 12 adjacent to Delano’s business 
district). Planning Commission thought most appropriate given lack of retail uses anywhere else in the 
city. There was discussion about Commercial/Light Industrial (CLI) on City Hall area and Co Rd 90 and 
Hwy 12. They felt that was too close to parks, residential, and other areas community members drive 
through frequently. They recommended for Council that all cannabis businesses only located in Urban 
Commercial/UC. Other types (cannabis event organizer, manufacturer, testing facility, medical organizer, 
wholesaler, where they don’t have direct retail sales) they felt could go Commercial Light Industrial/CLI 
or Urban Commercial/UC warehouse offices. They also discussed Agricultural/AG district (2/3 of 
Independence) and felt that there was no reason to open it up to this district as we don’t yet know enough 
and how they produce. The cannabis type is becoming more technical. We’re talking about inside 
growing, regulated. Planning Commission doesn’t want AG to be included. Maybe in the future when we 
know more. Cities less than 12,500 population can limit Full Potency retail business to (1). Planning 
Commission has recommended we limit to (1). We can limit to (3) for Low Potency Hemp Edible 
Businesses. Other businesses like Testing, Wholesalers, those are not regulated for numbers, just 
locations. Planning Commission is recommending Conditional Use Permit/CUP uses, not permitted uses. 
The City can be more involved to see what it entails. We talked about a buffer and if it makes sense. 
Commercial Light Industrial/CLI does have some overlap with Pioneer Park. Based on Planning 
Commission recommending not utilizing Commercial Light Industrial/CLI. The buffer is not needed and 
would hurt any other retailers that want to lease the existing buildings. All retail is only Urban 
Commercial. Only Conditional Use Permit/CUP.  
The 2nd piece is the Registration ordinance drafted as a model ordinance to say that cities have the ability 
to regulate through registration to a retail business that (1) has a valid license through Office of Cannabis 
Management/OCM; (2) has paid the registration fee or renewal fee (if applicable); (3) is found to be in 
compliance with the requirements of the Cannabis Act at any preliminary compliance check; and (4) if 
applicable, is current on all property taxes and assessments. This is similar to how we issue liquor licenses 
and tobacco licenses. We can’t make lots of money on it, we’re limited on that. We do the background 
checks and can do annual minor sales investigations. Maple Plain also adopted the same ordinance so 
West Hennepin Public Safety would appreciate the same rules across both cities. We are not making this 
up. We are taking model ordinances and learn what we can and can’t do. I anticipate us talking about this 
again once everyone understands more.   
Attorney Vose – Great overview and summarizing limitations which are pretty consistent across other 
cities. The registration piece is tied to your ability to impose the limits of (1) for cities with less than 
12,500 population limit on retail establishments. We have to do Registration in order to impose limit. 
Betts – I read something about a bunk house and sleeping quarters. 



 
City of Independence 4 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

Kaltsas – I show definitions above the new definitions to show where it is in our ordinances. We still have 
a definition. We don’t allow them as a use, we just define them in our ordinance. Bunkhouses are not 
permitted. Just because something is defined does not mean it is permitted. That’s a very good question. 
McCoy – I am very uncomfortable without buffers although we’re limiting to that Urban Commercial/UC 
area out by Delano. There is a church on County Line Rd.  Daycares, churches. If something falls in these 
categories, I would like it already in the ordinance if someone comes in for licensing. Secondly, if we 
have buffer in there, and we have a business and we have a daycare or treatment facility, etc., does that 
force them out or do they stay because they were there first? 
Kaltsas – If we enact buffers and it’s applicable (it’s within 500 ft), so if we have a church or daycare 
coming to an area and they have the 500 ft buffer, if they’re there, then the buffer would be applicable to 
any new business and couldn’t come into that 500 ft. buffer. If the business was existing today prior to the 
enactment, it would be grandfathered in, and we couldn’t push them out.  
McCoy – The Methodist and Lutheran churches could fall into that buffer zone.  
Spencer – Delano United is closer 
Kaltsas – Delano United might be and would have to be a daycare. 
McCoy- I feel strongly churches should be included in this because they often have more youth activities 
going on sometimes more than daycares or in parks.  
Spencer – If we put a buffer around that (Delano United), it would exclude most of the area.  
Kaltsas – It would exclude the Northern part but not the SE corner. 500 ft from Delano gets us to Hwy 12. 
It would exclude the entirety of the northern piece of our Urban Commercial/UC district meaning that 
we’re limiting it to just the SE corner of County Line & Hwy 12.  
Spencer - Is it legal to limit it to that small of an area for opportunity? 
Vose – Honestly, I don’t know. That will be one of the many things tested. Legislature has said you have 
the authority to establish these buffers and the consequence of that are to very much limit and know your 
position will be that we’ve been authorized to do that. The fact that you are going to require a Conditional 
Use Permit/CUP for all these gives you a stronger argument.  
Kaltsas – It leaves about 40 acres if placing buffer. The buffer issue would be an issue on community 
park. There’s no daycare now at the Delano Community Church. Planning Commission said we don’t 
want to restrict like Sam’s new business from non-retail users because they could be a viable business for 
them.  
McCoy – I’m mostly concerned with retail. I don’t know if it crosses city boundaries. There could be a 
daycare across from County Line Rd. I’m uncomfortable with it without buffers. 
Vose – This isn’t a race yet. We are getting closer, but you can make a revision and bring it back.  
Spencer – I kind of agree. I was going to bring up Delano United Methodist. I don’t think they are doing 
anything now, so it’s currently just their Sunday School and childcare during their services. But Light of 
Christ does HeadStart. If they were to move to Methodist, it would be in the buffer. I would like to see 
that in there. We may be overly restrictive but at least we have a place holder in there.  
McCoy – If they come in there for Conditional Use Permit/CUP, at least it’s in our ordinance.  
Spencer – Can we add the buffer around places of worship that offers childcare or other than just during 
their Sunday services, I’d like to see that, too.  
Kaltsas – Yes, we can add that and bring it back. We wouldn’t add the park language but would add 500 
ft buffer from churches and childcare. Could we adopt the Registration ordinance? 
Vose – The first to occur is parties seeking registration. Move forward with that.  
McCoy – I wish we could charge the same as on-sale liquor.  
Kaltsas – Because it is regulated by the state, it’s 50% of state fees or less. $2,500 for Full and $1,500 for 
Low Potency which are pretty nominal fees.   



 
City of Independence 5 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

Spencer – So we’re going to Table Ordinance No. 2025-01 and Ordinance No. 2025-02. What’s the 
purpose of the 2nd part of each one? 
Kaltsas – So we publish a single page summary saving cost.  
Spencer - We adopt the ordinance but publish the summary. 
Vose – We technically to prove a summary publish change to resolution summary. 
Would we change the number to 2025- adopt as a resolution 25-0304-02 (Ordinance 2025-03 stays the 
same).  
 

a. ORDINANCE No. 2025-01 – Considering a text amendment to Chapter V, Sections 510 
and 530 of the city’s zoning ordinance relating to regulations governing cannabis 
businesses.  The ordinance amendment will consider establishment of regulations 
pertaining to the definitions associated with a cannabis business and the permitted zoning 
district and associated standards. 
 
TABLED  
 

b. SUMMARY ORDINANCE No. 2025-02 – Considering approval of a summary ordinance 
for publication. 

 
TABLED   

 
c. ORDINANCE No. 2025-03 – Considering a text amendment to Chapter XI, Establishing 

Section 1101 of the city’s zoning ordinance relating to regulations governing cannabis 
retail business registration.  The ordinance amendment will consider establishment of 
regulations pertaining to the licensing and registration of cannabis businesses.  

 
Ordinances No. 2025-01 and 2025-02 were both tabled tonight, so the number for this was correctly 
changed.   
 
Motion by McCoy, seconded by Betts to approve Ordinance No. 2025-01 amending 
Independence City Code regarding Cannabis Retail Business Registration.  Ayes: Spencer, 
Betts, McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION DECLARED 
CARRIED. 3-0 

 
d. RESOLUTION SUMMARY No. 25-0304-02 – Considering approval of a summary 

ordinance for publication. 
 
Council discussed this must be a resolution not an ordinance.  
 
Motion by McCoy, seconded by Betts to approve Resolution No 25-0304-02 approving publication 
of a summary of the cannabis retail business registration ordinance. Ayes: Spencer, Betts, and 
McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 
3-0  
 
May have to bring it back 4/5 vote.  
McCoy, seconded by Betts 3-0 
Motion by McCoy, seconded by Betts to ???. Ayes: Spencer, Betts, McCoy. Nays: None. Absent: 



 
City of Independence 6 
City Council Meeting Minutes 
6:30 pm March 4, 2025 

Grotting, Fisher. Abstain. None. MOTION DECLARED CARRIED. 3-0 
 
 

9. Open/Misc. 
 
 
 

10. Adjourn. 
Motion by McCoy, seconded by Betts to adjourn the meeting at 7:13 pm.  
 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for a Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan Approval  

 to Allow a New Telecommunications Tower  
on the Property Located at 87 McCulley Road 

 
To: Planning Commission  

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2025 

Applicant: Buell Consulting, LLC – on behalf of Verizon 

Owner: Larry and Susan Vensel 

Location: 87 McCulley Rd. 

 

Request: 
Buell Consulting, LLC – on behalf of Verizon (Applicant) and Larry and Susan Vensel (Owner) requests that 
the City consider the following action for the property located at 87 McCulley Rd., Independence, MN (PID 
No. 36-118-24-44-0009): 
 

a. A Conditional Use Permit to allow a new telecommunications tower on the subject 
property. 

 
b. Site plan review and conditional use permit to allow a new 180-foot-tall 

telecommunications tower on the subject property.   
 

 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located at the NW corner of County Road 19 and McCulley Road. The property is 
comprised of the existing house and one accessory structure.  The property has rolling terrain.  The 
property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information for 87 McCulley Road 
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Rural Residential 
 Acreage: 4.06 Acres 
 
 
 
 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	2	
 

 
87 McCulley Road 

 
 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant is seeking a conditional use permit and site plan approval to allow a new telecommunications 
tower and accessory structure to be located at the base of the tower.  The City has criteria relating to the 
location (setbacks), site improvements and landscaping for new telecommunications tower development.  



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	3	
 

 
The proposed tower is a monopole type structure that would be180 feet in height.  The required setback 
from the property line is equal to the height of the tower or an engineer specifies in writing that the collapse 
of the tower will occur within a lesser distance under reasonably foreseeable circumstances.  The applicant 
has provided a sealed engineers opinion that the proposed tower would fall within a 90’ radius of the base 
of the tower. The maximum height allowed for a telecommunications tower is 185 feet.  In this case, the 
requisite setback of the tower is 100’ feet from the east property line.  The proposed tower location meets 
the requisite setbacks from the nearest property line.   
 
The applicant is proposing to construct a gravel access drive from the existing driveway to the proposed 
site.  The applicant is proposing to fence in a 75’ x 75’ equipment area at the base of the tower.  The 
enclosed area would contain the equipment needed to operate the tower.   
 

 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	4	
 

Telecommunications Towers must comply with the following standards: 

540.09. Performance standards. 

Subd. 1. Co-location capability. Unless the applicant presents clear and convincing evidence to the city council that 
co-location is not feasible, a new tower may not be built, constructed or erected in the city unless the tower 
is capable of supporting at least two telecommunications facilities comparable in weight, size, and surface 
area to each other.  

Subd. 2. Setback requirements. A tower must comply with the following setback requirements:  

(a) A tower must be located on a single parcel having a dimension equal to the height of the tower, as 
measured between the base of the tower located nearest the property line and the actual property 
line, unless an engineer specifies in writing that the collapse of the tower will occur within a lesser 
distance under reasonably foreseeable circumstances.  

(b) Setback requirements for towers are measured from the base of the tower to the property line of the 
parcel on which it is located.  

Subd. 3. Engineer certification. Towers must be designed and certified by an engineer to be structurally sound and 
in conformance with the Uniform Building Code, and any other standards set forth in this Code.  

Subd. 4. Height restriction. A tower may not exceed the lesser of 185 feet in height or a height equivalent to ten 
feet more than the distance from the base of the tower to the nearest point of any property line. 
Measurement of tower height must include the tower structure itself, the base pad, and any other 
telecommunications facilities attached thereto. Tower height is measured from grade.  

Subd. 5. Lighting. Towers may not be artificially lighted except as required by the Federal Aviation Administration. 
At time of construction of a tower, in cases where there are residential uses located within a distance that is 
three times the height of the tower from the tower, dual mode lighting must be requested from the Federal 
Aviation Administration. Notwithstanding this provision, the city may approve the placement of an antennae 
on an existing or proposed lighting standard, provided that the antennae is integrated with the lighting 
standard.  

Subd. 6. Exterior finish. Towers not requiring Federal Aviation Administration painting or marking must have an 
exterior finish as approved in the site plan.  

Subd. 7. Fencing. Fences constructed around or upon parcels containing towers, antenna support structures, or 
telecommunications facilities must be constructed in accordance with the applicable fencing requirements in 
the zoning district where the tower or antenna support structure is located, unless more stringent fencing 
requirements are required by Federal Communications Commission regulations.  

Subd. 8. Landscaping. Landscaping on parcels containing towers, antenna support structures or 
telecommunications facilities must be in accordance with landscaping requirements as approved in the site 
plan. Utility buildings and structures accessory to a tower must be architecturally designed to blend in with 
the surrounding environment and to meet setback requirements that are compatible with the actual 
placement of the tower. Ground mounted equipment must be screened from view by suitable vegetation, 
except where a design of non-vegetative screening better reflects and complements the character of the 
surrounding neighborhood.  

Subd. 9. Accessory buildings and equipment. No more than one accessory building is permitted per tower. 
Accessory buildings may be no more than 300 square feet in size. Telecommunications facilities not located 
on a tower or in an accessory building must be of stealth design.  

Subd. 10. Security. Towers must be reasonably posted and secured to protect against trespass. All signs 
must comply with applicable sign regulations.  



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	5	
 

Subd. 11. Design. Towers must be of stealth design as approved in the site plan unless the city determines 
that such design is infeasible due to the lack of comparable vertical structures in the vicinity of the proposed 
site.  

Subd. 12. Non-tower facilities. Telecommunications facilities not attached to a tower may be permitted as 
an accessory use to any antenna support structure at least 75 feet in height (except residential occupancies 
of three stories or less), or any existing tower, regardless of any other provision of this Code, provided that 
the owner of the telecommunications facility, by written certification to the building official, establishes the 
following facts at the time plans are submitted for a building permit:  

(a) That the height from grade of the telecommunications facilities and antennae support structure does 
not exceed the maximum height from grade of the antenna support structure by more than 20 feet;  

(b) That the antenna support structure and telecommunications facilities comply with the Uniform 
Building Code;  

(c) That the telecommunications facilities located above the primary roof of an antenna support structure 
are set back one foot from the edge of the primary roof for each one foot in height above the primary 
roof of the telecommunications facilities. This setback requirement does not apply to antennas that are 
mounted to the exterior of antenna support structures below the primary roof, but that do not 
protrude more than six inches from the side of the antenna support structure.  

Subd. 13. Removal of towers. Abandoned or unused towers and associated above-ground facilities must be 
removed within 12 months of the cessation of operations of the telecommunications facility at the site 
unless an extension is approved by the city council. Any tower and associated telecommunications facilities 
that are not removed within 12 months of the cessation of operations at a site are declared to be public 
nuisances and may be removed by the city and the costs of removal assessed against the property pursuant 
to section 2010 of this Code.  

 
The city has completed a detailed review of the plans and would note that there are several items that 
should be further considered relating to the conditional use permit and site plan approval.  The following 
issues should be noted by the City: 
 

1. The proposed tower has the following setbacks: 
 

a. East Property Line: 100’ 
b. South Property Line:  190’ 
c. West Property Line: 282’ 
d. North Property Line: 245’ 

 
2. The proposed tower has the following characteristics: 

 
a. Tower Type:  Monopole 
b. Tower Height:  180’ 
c. Lightning Rod Height: 190’ 

 
Note that the proposed height of the tower exceeds the setback to the nearest property line.  The 
applicant is proposing that the increased height be considered due to the reduction in setback 
resulting from the engineer’s certification of the decreased tower fall zone.  

 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	6	
 

 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	7	
 

3. The applicant is proposing to locate equipment within cabinets at the base of the tower The City 
requires that all towers and associated structures accessory to the tower must be of stealth design 
and blend into the surrounding environment. 
 

Subd. 8. Landscaping. Landscaping on parcels containing towers, antenna 
support structures or telecommunications facilities must be in accordance 
with landscaping requirements as approved in the site plan. Utility buildings 
and structures accessory to a tower must be architecturally designed to 
blend in with the surrounding environment and to meet setback 
requirements that are compatible with the actual placement of the tower. 
Ground mounted equipment must be screened from view by suitable 
vegetation, except where a design of non-vegetative screening better 
reflects and complements the character of the surrounding neighborhood. 

  
Subd. 11. Design. Towers must be of stealth design as approved in the site 
plan unless the city determines that such design is infeasible due to the lack 
of comparable vertical structures in the vicinity of the proposed site. 

 
The proposed tower is a monopole type tower that is typical of other telecommunications towers in 
the City.  The proposed equipment at the base of the tower is also typical of similar to that located 
at the base of other towers in the City.  The City will need to determine if any additional stealth type 
design should be implemented on this site.  One item to consider would be requiring all equipment 
to be located within an enclosed structure. 
 
In addition to the equipment cabinets, the applicant is proposing a future generator within the 
fenced area.  Most generators associated with cellular towers within the city are enclosed in a 
building to mitigate noise. Staff will seek additional direction from Planning Commissioners relating 
to the design of the tower and associated accessory structures. 
  

4. The proposed tower is 180 feet in height.  The drawings provided also indicate a lightning rod that 
extends an additional 10’ above the top of the tower.  The city’s current ordinance does not 
differentiate this structure from the tower.  The maximum height of a tower including any additional 
apparatus is 185’.  The applicant will need to revise the plans to reduce the lightning rod height to 
comply with the maximum allowed height.   
 

5. It should be noted that base of the proposed tower (elevation 978.7) sits approximately 20’ below 
the adjacent McCulley Road centerline elevation (998.9) and approximately 13’ below the elevation 
of the adjacent CSAH 19 (991). 
 

6. The applicant has provided the City with verification of the need for the proposed tower (see 
attached letter and coverage map). 
 

7. The City requires all towers to be able to accommodate colocation.  The applicant has provided a 
letter from an engineer verifying that the proposed tower can accommodate a second set of 
antennas on this tower. In addition, the City requested that the applicant provide a “ghost” plan 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	8	
 

indicating the probable location of a second lease on the site.  The applicant has provided this 
information, and it confirms that the tower and site can accommodate colocation.  

 
8. The applicant is proposing to screen the site utilizing a 6’ tall chain link fence with white vinyl slats 

and barbed wire on top of fence.  The proposed fence will not be in keeping with the most recently 
developed tower sites in the city. The city will want to see a more decorative and architecturally 
compatible fence installed on this site (i.e., cedar board on board, black vinyl, etc.).  It is also 
recommended that the fence height be increased to 8’ in order to more adequately screen the 
proposed tower base and equipment.    

 
9. The applicant did not provide a landscape plan with the submittal.  The city will want to see 

landscaping provided around the base of the proposed fenced enclosure.  This should include a 
combination of evergreen and deciduous trees and planting.  Staff can work with the applicant to 
prepare a landscape plan that will more adequately screen the base equipment enclosure.  

 
10. No site lighting is proposed on the plans submitted to the city.  Any future lighting will need to 

comply with the City’s lighting ordinance.   
 

11. The applicant has provided the City with a copy of relevant portions of a lease signed by the 
applicant and property owner(s), requiring the applicant to remove the tower and associated 
telecommunications facilities upon cessation of operations on the leased site, or, if a lease does 
not yet exist, a written agreement to include such a provision in the lease to be signed.  The 
applicant will need to submit the signed copy of this document upon its execution. 

 
12. The applicant will need to obtain all applicable approvals from the Minnehaha Creek Watershed 

District.  
 
Several of the items noted above would require the applicant to submit revised plans.  It is anticipated that 
these items can be completed prior to consideration by the City Council.  
 
A request for a Conditional Use Permit must meet the requirements established for granting a Conditional 
Use Permit in the City’s Zoning Ordinance.  The criteria for granting a conditional use permit are clearly 
delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance (Section 520.11 subd. 1, a-i) as follows: 
 

1. The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. 

2. The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property 
in the immediate vicinity for the proposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly 
development and improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the 
area. 

3. Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated 
traffic. 

4. Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	9	
 

5. The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage 
treatment, and sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to 
protect the city form pollution hazards. 

6. The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural 
topography, tree growth, water courses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and 
environmental features. 

7. The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, 
noise, or vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance. 

8. The proposed condition use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of 
Independence. 

9. The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 
The proposed telecommunications tower and associated base equipment are similar to those located within 
the City on other telecommunications tower sites.  The applicant will need to provide additional screening 
and more architecturally compatible fencing to adequately screen the proposed equipment and associated 
site improvements.  Adding landscaping to the site perimeter will further mitigate the impacts of the 
proposed equipment and building.  

 
In the existing zoning district, telecommunication towers are permitted as a conditional use.  
Telecommunications towers are often difficult to locate and therefore consider by cities due to the height of 
the towers and potential visual impact to surrounding properties.  There are several residential and 
agricultural properties that are directly adjacent to the subject property.  The property is located at the 
intersection of two county roads with higher levels of traffic.  Resulting traffic, noise, and other measureable 
impacts should not be incrementally amplified as a result of the proposed telecommunications tower and 
associated base site improvements.  The Planning Commission will need to determine if the requested 
conditional use permit and site plan meet all of the aforementioned conditions and restrictions as well as 
the criteria for granting a conditional use permit.   
 

Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any written comments regarding the proposed amendment to the conditional use 
permit and site plan approval. 

 
Recommendation: 
Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the request for a conditional use permit 
and site plan approval.  Should the Planning Commission make a recommendation to approve the requested 
actions, the following findings and conditions should be considered: 
 

1. The proposed conditional use permit and site plan review meet all applicable conditions and restrictions 
stated Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The conditional use permit will be reviewed annually by the City to ensure conformance with the 
conditions set forth in the resolution. 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	10	
 

 
3. This conditional use permit will approve a monopole tower with a maximum height of 180 feet and the 

associated accessory equipment, site improvements and landscaping (as indicated on the approved site 
plan).   
 

4. Prior to consideration by the City Council, the applicant shall complete the following items: 
 

a. Completion of all comments provided within the report and or prepared by the city. 
 

b. Completion of all comments and conditions made by the Planning Commission during their review of 
the Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan. 

 
c. Prepare a landscape plan that will be reviewed by staff to ensure adequate screening of the base 

equipment enclosure area. 
 

d. Obtain all applicable approvals by Minnehaha Creek Watershed District. 
 

5. The applicant shall pay for all fees associated with the City’s processing and review of the Conditional 
Use Permit and Site Plan Review. 

 
 
Attachments: 

1. Applicant Application and Narrative  
2. Proposed Plan Set 
3. Need Verification Letter and Graphic 
4. Colocation Verification 
5. Engineers Fall Zone Verification 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



Verizon	CUP	and	Site	Plan	–	Planning	Commission	 3.18.2025	 	
	 Page	11	
 

Aerial Photographs 

87 McCulley Road (Looking northwest) 

 
 

87 McCulley Road (Looking southwest) 

 
 

87 McCulley Road (Looking northeast) 

 
 



 

Date Submitted: 01-28-2025

Applicant Information Owner Information

Name: Karl A Gerber

Address: 9973 Valley View Rd.
Eden Prairie, Minnesota 
55344

Primary Phone: 715-415-4528

Email: kgerber@buellconsulting.com

Name: Larry Vensel

Address: 87 McCulley Rd.
Maple Plain, Minnesota 
55359

Primary Phone: 763-300-2738

Email: NA@NA.COM

Property Address:

PID:

Planning Application Type: Conditional Use Permit

Description:

Supporting Documents: Site Survey (Existing Conditions), Site Survey (Proposed Conditions), Building Plans, 
Construction Plans, Preliminary/Final Plan

Signature:



BUELL CONSULTING, INC. 
 

720 Main Street, Suite 200 
Saint Paul, MN 55118 

(651) 361-8110 
www.buellconsulting.com 

 
 

Monday, December 2nd, 2024 
 

City of Independence, MN 
Department of City Planner 
Attn: Mr. Mark Kaltsas, City Administrator/Planner 
1920 County Rd 90 

  Independence, MN 55359 
 

RE: CUP Application for New Tower Site – Vertical Bridge 500 II LLC ref. US-MN-5154 / City of 
Independence Property: Hennepin County PID 36-118-24-44-0009, S 632 FT OF W 295 FT OF E 345 FT 
OF SE 1/4 OF SE 1/4 

 
Dear Mr. Kaltsas, City of Independence, and the Department of City Planner, on behalf of Vertical Bridge 
500 II LLC, Buell Consulting, Inc. hereby submits a Conditional Use Application for a Communications Tower 
on the property within Hennepin County PID 36-118-24-44-0009 owned by Larry and Susan Vensel. 

 
Enclosed with this letter are the following items: 

• Zoning Narrative (see immediately following pages) explaining how our proposed project complies with the City 
of Independence’s Zoning Ordinance 

• CUP application fee check in the amount $2,000 
• CUP application form completed and signed by me, on behalf of the applicant, Vertical Bridge 500 II LLC, and 

the property owner 
• Site Plans by Design 1 with lease area’s legal description 
• Copy of lease agreement between Vertical Bridge (tenant) and Larry and Susan Vensel (landowners)  
• Sworn statement from Verizon regarding colocation is not feasible on any nearby structures 
• Certified engineers fall zone letter  

 
Please do not hesitate to call for any clarifications or additional questions related to any of the CUP application 
materials. So that we can monitor various internal and external deadlines, including but not limited to the deadline 
for approval of this application. Please confirm that this application is complete or, if it is not complete, please 
provide a detailed description of the required information that is incomplete so we may address it and get the 
additional required information. 

 
 

Sincerely, 
 
Karl Gerber 
Site Development Agent on behalf of Vertical Bridge 500 II LLC 
Phone : 715-415-4528 
Email :kgerber@buellconsulting.com 

Encl. 

http://www.buellconsulting.com/
mailto:kgerber@buellconsulting.com


Zoning Narrative | Page 2 of 7 
 

 

 

Zoning Narrative 
Conditional Use Permit Application for a New Communication Tower 

Hennepin County PID 36-118-24-44-0009 
 

This zoning narrative is included to state how our application complies with the City of Independence Zoning 
Ordinance (cited ordinance language is in blue italics, our responses are in normal font). 

 
Communication Tower Use Overview: 

 

Our proposed use is located on a parcel zoned as Agricultural within the City of Independence. 
According to Chapter V – Planning and Land Use Regulations, Section 540. Zoning: Telecommunications Towers 
and Facilities, Subsection 54.05 Development of towers; approvals required. A tower is a conditional use in all 
zoning districts within the city. A tower may not be constructed in any district unless a conditional use permit 
has been issued by, and site plan approval obtained from, the city council, and a building permit has been 
issued by the building official. The proposed site is ideal for a cell tower because there is a gap in coverage in 
the area. The proposed tower will provide communication needs for local area residents in Independence, 
Minnetrista, and Orono. It will also help provide coverage for people traveling along County Rd. 19, McCulley 
Rd., North Shore Dr., Bayside Rd., Arm Dr., Branch Rd., Watertown Rd., County Rd. 110, and Highway 12   

 
540.07. Application Process: 

 

Subd. 2. An application to develop a tower must include: 
 

(a) Name, address and telephone number of the applicant;  
Please see attached completed application. 
 

(b) Name, address and telephone numbers of the owners of the property on which the 
tower is proposed to be located;  
Please see attached completed application. 
 

(c) Legal description of the parcel on which the tower is proposed to be located;  
You will find the legal description in the attached CDs. 
 

(d) Written consent of the property owner(s) to the application;  
Please see attached redacted version of the lease showing owner’s consent. 
 

(e) A scaled site plan depicting the parcel and proposed tower, including the proposed 
landscaping, camouflage, lighting and fencing;  
Please see attached CDs showing a scaled site plan depicting the parcel and proposed 
tower. 
 

(f) Written evidence from an engineer that the proposed structure meets the structural 
requirements of this Code;  
Please see attached CDs showing that the tower has been designed by a certified State 
of Minnesota engineer. 

 
(g) Written information demonstrating the need for the tower at the proposed site in light 

of the existing and proposed wireless telecommunications network(s) to be operated by 
persons intending to place telecommunications facilities on the tower;  

 Please see attached sworn statement from an individual at Verizon who has 



Zoning Narrative | Page 3 of 7 
 

 

responsibility over the placement of the proposed wireless telecommunications tower 
showing the need and attesting that collocation within the applicant’s search area is 
technically infeasible to the mobile service provider. 

 
(h) A copy of relevant portions of a lease signed by the applicant and property owner(s), 

requiring the applicant to remove the tower and associated telecommunications 
facilities upon cessation of operations on the leased site, or, if a lease does not yet exist, 
a written agreement to include such a provision in the lease to be signed;  

 Please see attached redacted version of the lease. 
 
(i) Such other information as the zoning administrator reasonably requests; and  
(j) An application fee established from time to time by resolution of the city council.   
 Please see attached check of $2,000 for CUP fee. 

 
540.09. Performance standards: 

 
Subd. 1. Co-location capability. Unless the applicant presents clear and convincing 
evidence to the city council that co-location is not feasible, a new tower may not be built, 
constructed or erected in the city unless the tower is capable of supporting at least two 
telecommunications facilities comparable in weight, size, and surface area to each other.  
Please see attached sworn statement from an individual at Verizon who has responsibility 
over the placement of the proposed wireless telecommunications tower showing the need 
and attesting that collocation within the applicant’s search area is technically infeasible to the 
mobile service provider. 
 

Subd. 2.  Setback requirements. A tower must comply with the following setback 
requirements:  

 
(a) A tower must be located on a single parcel having a dimension equal to the 
height of the tower, as measured between the base of the tower located nearest the 
property line and the actual property line, unless an engineer specifies in writing 
that the collapse of the tower will occur within a lesser distance under reasonably 
foreseeable circumstances.  
(b) Setback requirements for towers are measured from the base of the tower to 
the property line of the parcel on which it is located. 
Please see attached CDs showing that the proposed tower and lease area is on a 
single parcel and the attached certified engineers fall zone letter showing the tower 
will not collapse outside of the nearest property line. 

 
Subd. 3.  Engineer certification. Towers must be designed and certified by an engineer to 
be structurally sound and in conformance with the Uniform Building Code, and any other 
standards set forth in this Code.  
Please see attached CDs showing that the tower has been designed by a certified State of 
Minnesota engineer meeting the standards of the Uniform Building Code and the other 
standards in the City of Independence Code. 

 
Subd. 4.  Height restriction. A tower may not exceed the lesser of 185 feet in height or a 
height equivalent to ten feet more than the distance from the base of the tower to the nearest 
point of any property line. Measurement of tower height must include the tower structure itself, 
the base pad, and any other telecommunications facilities attached thereto. Tower height is 
measured from grade.  



Zoning Narrative | Page 4 of 7 
 

 

Please see attached CDs showing that the proposed tower will be 180’ in height with a 5’ 
lighting rod making for an overall height of 185’ and the attached certified engineers fall zone 
letter showing that in the extremely rare circumstance the tower does collapse it will not fall 
any further than half its height (92.5’) 

 
Subd. 5.  Lighting. Towers may not be artificially lighted except as required by the Federal 
Aviation Administration. At time of construction of a tower, in cases where there are residential 
uses located within a distance that is three times the height of the tower from the tower, dual 
mode lighting must be requested from the Federal Aviation Administration. Notwithstanding 
this provision, the city may approve the placement of an antennae on an existing or proposed 
lighting standard, provided that the antennae is integrated with the lighting standard. 
 Tower will not be lit unless it becomes required by the FAA. 

 
Subd. 6. Exterior finish. Towers not requiring Federal Aviation Administration painting or 

marking must have an exterior finish as approved in the site plan.  
Please see attached CDs showing the gray exterior finish of the proposed tower. 
 
Subd. 7. Fencing. Fences constructed around or upon parcels containing towers, antenna 

support structures, or telecommunications facilities must be constructed in accordance with the 
applicable fencing requirements in the zoning district where the tower or antenna support 
structure is located, unless more stringent fencing requirements are required by Federal 
Communications Commission regulations.  
Please see attached CDs showing the proposed fencing for the compound. 6’ tall chain-link 
fencing with barbwire on top to prevent climbing.   
 
Subd. 8. Landscaping. Landscaping on parcels containing towers, antenna support 

structures or telecommunications facilities must be in accordance with landscaping 
requirements as approved in the site plan. Utility buildings and structures accessory to a tower 
must be architecturally designed to blend in with the surrounding environment and to meet 
setback requirements that are compatible with the actual placement of the tower. Ground 
mounted equipment must be screened from view by suitable vegetation, except where a design 
of non-vegetative screening better reflects and complements the character of the surrounding 
neighborhood. 
Please see attached CDs showing the proposed placement of ground equipment. All ground 
equipment proposed, or future meet the zoning districts setback requirements. The existing 
vegetation in the area is a grass field. 
 
Subd. 9. Accessory buildings and equipment. No more than one accessory building is 

permitted per tower. Accessory buildings may be no more than 300 square feet in size. 
Telecommunications facilities not located on a tower or in an accessory building must be of 
stealth design. 
Proposed site plans have no accessory building, only ground equipment. Ground equipment 
will be behind the compound’s privacy fence. 
 
Subd. 10. Security. Towers must be reasonably posted and secured to protect against 

trespass. All signs must comply with applicable sign regulations. 
Please see attached CDs showing the compound to have a 6’ tall fence with a no trespassing 
sign. 
 
 
 



Zoning Narrative | Page 5 of 7 
 

 

 
Subd. 11. Design. Towers must be of stealth design as approved in the site plan unless the 

city determines that such design is infeasible due to the lack of comparable vertical structures in 
the vicinity of the proposed site. 
Please see attached site plans showing the tower being a stealth design (monopole). 
 
Subd. 13. Removal of towers. Abandoned or unused towers and associated above-ground 

facilities must be removed within 12 months of the cessation of operations of the 
telecommunications facility at the site unless an extension is approved by the city council. Any 
tower and associated telecommunications facilities that are not removed within 12 months of 
the cessation of operations at a site are declared to be public nuisances and may be removed by 
the city and the costs of removal assessed against the property pursuant to section 2010 of this 
Code.  
Please see attached redacted lease stating the tower will be removed by Vertical Bridge if it is 
no longer needed.  
 

 
520.11. Criteria for granting a conditional use permit: 

 
Subd. 1. An applicant for a conditional use permit must demonstrate that the proposed use meets all of the 
following criteria: 

 
(a) The conditional use will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of occupants 

of surrounding lands. 
The proposed tower will not adversely affect the health, safety, morals, and general welfare of 
occupants of surrounding lands. The proposed tower will promote safety in the case of an emergency by 
providing reliable cell coverage where there currently is none a person will be able to make a call for 
help.   

(b) The proposed use will not have a detrimental effect on the use and enjoyment of other property in the 
immediate vicinity for the purposes already permitted or on the normal and orderly development and 
improvement of surrounding vacant property for uses predominant in the area. 
The proposed tower will not have a detrimental effect on other properties in the immediate vicinity. 

 
(c) Existing roads and proposed access roads will be adequate to accommodate anticipated traffic. 

The proposed tower will have no effect on traffic. 
 

(d) Sufficient off-street parking and loading space will be provided to serve the proposed use. 
Please see attached plans showing parking / turnaround for vehicles servicing the site. 

 
(e) The proposed conditional use can be adequately serviced by public utilities or on-site sewage treatment, 

and a sufficient area of suitable soils for on-site sewage treatment is available to protect the city from 
pollution hazards. 
Utilities are readily available and nearby for the proposed tower. No sewage needed for proposed tower. 
  

(f) The proposal includes adequate provision for protection of natural drainage systems, natural topography, 
tree growth, watercourses, wetlands, historic sites and similar ecological and environmental features. 
A third-party environmental team will be hired to review plans and verify the protection of natural 
drainage systems, natural topography, tree growth, watercourses, wetlands, historic sites and similar 
ecological and environmental features. 
 
 



Zoning Narrative | Page 6 of 7 
 

 

 
 

(g) The proposal includes adequate measures to prevent or control offensive odor, fumes, dust, noise, or 
vibration so that none of these will constitute a nuisance.  
The proposed tower will not produce offensive odor, fumes, dust, noise, or vibration to cause any 
nuisance. 
 

(h) The proposed conditional use is consistent with the comprehensive plan of the City of Independence. 
The proposed tower is consistent with the City of Independence’s comprehensive plan. It will be a 
supporting service to the City and the surrounding communities ensuring that area can grow and 
develop. The proposed tower will also help preserve and/or enhance local property values as it has been 
a common trend for new home buyers not to have a landline. Meaning quality cell service because very 
important to those buyers. 
 

(i)   The proposed use will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
     The proposed tower will not stimulate growth incompatible with prevailing density standards. 
 
 
Underlying district standards: 
 

Agricultural District- 530.03. - Physical standards. 
 

Subd. 3.Physical standards. All lots and construction thereon must meet the following physical standards: 
 
(a)Minimum lot area: 2.50 acres buildable land. 
The parcel that our proposed site is located on meets this standard. 
 
(b)Maximum lot area: ten acres. 
The parcel that our proposed site is located on is calculated at 4.06 acres. 
 
(c)Minimum lot frontage on an improved public road or street: 

 
 

 
Subd. 4.Setbacks. All buildings and structures, including houses with attached garages or decks, must meet 
or exceed the following setbacks: 
 

(a)Front yard setback: 85 feet from centerline of road. 
The proposed lease area / compound is setback 100’ from the centerline of McCully Rd. 
 
(b)Corner yard setback: 52 feet from right-of-way line. 
The proposed lease area / compound is setback 50’ from the nearest right-of-way line. 
 
(c)Side yard setback: 30 feet from side lot line. 
The proposed lease area / compound is setback 135’ from the nearest side lot line. 
 
(d)Rear yard setback: a e 40 feet from rear lot line. 
The proposed lease area / compound is setback 150’ from the nearest rear lot line. 

Lot area Minimum frontage Parcel of our proposed location 
2.50—3.49 acres b 200 feet NA 
3.50—4.99 acres b 250 feet The parcel that our proposed site is located on more 

than meets the minimum frontage requirements. 

5.00—10.00 acres b 300 feet NA 



Zoning Narrative | Page 7 of 7 
 

 

(e)Setback from lakes, rivers and streams: 100 feet from ordinary high mark. 
There are no lakes, rivers or streams within 100 feet of proposed lease area. The nearest one is 
over 0.5 miles away.  
 
(f)Setback from wetlands: ten feet from the outside edge of the required wetland buffer. 
The nearest marked wetland is approximately 550 feet away from the proposed lease area. Well 
outside any wetland buffer zone. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Thank you for considering our proposed Conditional Use Permit Application and Submittal Package for Vertical 
Bridges’s proposed tower facility. We believe we satisfy the requirements for the proposed cell tower facility, and 
we welcome any questions and comments as you review this application. 

 
Please feel free to call me with any questions. 

Sincerely, 

Karl Gerber 
Site Development Agent on Behalf of Vertical Bridge 500 II LLC 
Buell Consulting, Inc. 
720 Main Street, Suite 200 
Saint Paul, MN 55118 
Office/Cell: 715-415-4528 
Email: kgerber@buellconsulting.com 



SHEET CONTENTS:

NORTH

VICINITY MAP

PROJECT INFORMATION

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

T-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

CONTACTSCONTACTS

DRAWING APPROVALS
JOB TITLE NAME DATE

VERTICAL BRIDGE

RF ENGINEER JORDAN ALSTAD 12/13/2024

CONSTRUCTION ENGINEER BRIAN NELSEN 12/13/2024

TRANSPORT ENGINEER

EQUIPMENT ENGINEER

REAL ESTATE SPECIALIST

ISSUE SUMMARY
REV DESCRIPTION SHEET/DETAIL

A ISSUED FOR REVIEW ALL

B ISSUED FOR REVIEW ALL

C ISSUED FOR REVIEW ALL

MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359
87 MCCULLEY ROAD

180' MONOPOLE TOWER

US-MN-5154

VENSEL FAMILY TRUST
87 McCULLEY RD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

RED OAK

SHEET INDEX

PROJECT DESCRIPTIONS
CODE COMPLIANCE
VICINITY MAP
PROJECT INFORMATION

DRAWING APPROVALS
CONTACTS

ISSUE SUMMARY

PROPERTY OWNER:

WRIGHT HENNEPIN ELECTRIC COOP
6800 ELECTRIC DR.
ROCKFORD, MN 55373
YALONDA GRANGROTH (763) 477-3007

POWER UTILITY
COMPANY CONTACT:

COMPANY CONTACT:
TELCO UTILITY

DESIGNER:

LESSOR  / LICENSOR:

LESSEE:

THE TOWERS, LLC
750 PARK OF COMMERCE DR, SUITE 200
BOCA RATON, FL 33487

BUELL CONSULTING, INC.
720 MAIN ST, SUITE 200
ST. PAUL, MN 55118

SITE
ACQUISITION:

(TOWER):
STRUCTURAL ENGINEER

10801 BUSH LAKE ROAD
BLOOMINGTON, MN 55438

CONSTRUCTION DEPT (952) 946-4700

SITE NAME: MIN RED OAK
MDG: 5000930335

PROJECT ID: 17063174

T.B.D.

T.B.D

DESIGN 1 OF EDEN PRARIE
9973 VALLEY VIEW ROAD
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

VERIZON WIRELESS
1701 GOLF ROAD TOWER 2, SUITE 400
ROLLING MEADOW, IA 60008
CONTACT: DANNY PEREZ
EMAIL: danny.perez2@verizonwireless.com

VERTICAL BRIDGE SITE NAME:
VERTICAL BRIDGE SITE NUMBER :
VERIZON SITE NAME:
VERIZON MDG:
VERIZON PSLC:
SITE ADDRESS:

COUNTY:
LATITUDE (DECIMAL):
LONGITUDE (DECIMAL):
LATITUDE (DMS):
LONGITUDE (DMS):
GROUND ELEVATION:
STRUCTURE TYPE:
STRUCTURE HEIGHT:
OVERALL HEIGHT:
RFDS FORM DATED:

RED OAK
US-MN-5154
MIN RED OAK
5000930335
17063174
87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359
HENNEPIN
N 44.979239°
W 93.646050°
N 44° 58' 45.26"
W 93° 38' 45.78"
978.7' AMSL
MONOPOLE TOWER
180'' AGL
190' AGL
11-14-24

THE TOWERS LLC

SHEET INDEX
SHEET SHEET DESCRIPTION

T-1:T-2 PROJECT TITLE SHEET & GENERAL NOTES

- SURVEY

A-1 OVERALL SITE PLAN AND TOWER ELEVATION

A-2 ENLARGED SITE PLAN

A-3 SITE PREP & GRADING NOTES AND DETAILS

A-4:A-5 FENCE DETAILS

A-6 SIGN DETAILS

A-7 MISC. DETAILS

A-8 SITE PHOTOS

G-1:G-3 GROUNDING NOTES, PLAN AND DETAILS

U-1:U-2 SITE UTILITY PLANS, DETAILS AND NOTES

VZW A-1 VERIZON SITE PLAN

VZW A-2 RFDS INFO, MOUNTING DETAIL AND ONE-LINE DIAGRAM

VZW A-3 CABINET AND BASE EQUIPMENT DETAILS

VZW A-4 CABLE ICE BRIDGE, GPS AND MISC. DETAILS

VZW A-5 GENERATOR DETAILS

VZW G-1 GROUNDING PLAN

VZW G-2 GROUNDING DETAILS AND NOTES

VZW U-1 VERIZON UTILITY PLAN, DETAILS AND NOTES

VZW U-2 VERIZON ONE-LINE ELECTRICAL DIAGRAM

VE
R

TI
C

AL
 B

R
ID

G
E

VE
R

IZ
O

N



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

T-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GENERAL NOTES



N89°20'14"E 345.01

S0
0°

12
'5

3"
E 

63
2.

02

N
00

°1
2'

53
"W

 6
32

.0
2

COUNTY ROAD 19

M
cC

U
LL

EY
 R

O
AD

991
992 993 994

99
5

996
997

998

999

1000

998

997
996

995
994

993

992

991
990

989

988

987

986

985
984

98
3

98
298

198
097

997
897

797
6

97
5

97
497

3

97
2

97
1

976

977

978

979

980

981

982

983

984

985

986

987

988

989

990 991

10
02

10
01

10
00

99
9

998
997996995994993992991990989988987986985984

983982

981

980979978

977

976975

974973

972

976.1
977.5

981.5
981.6

980.6

982.0

981.6
979.1

978.5977.5
974.6

974.3

972.3
972.6 974.7

976.8

976.7

975.7
974.1

973.6

974.9

976.2

979.3

978.6

981.8

982.0

981.9

982.2

976.9

973.5

972.3

972.3

972.3

971.5

970.9

970.8

971.3

971.7

972.5 974.3

972.9

977.5

981.4

984.0

987.3

985.5

988.4

983.8 989.4

996.0

996.1

995.8

995.2

994.5990.7986.5
983.5

984.5 988.3

993.2

991.7
989.3

985.9
983.7

983.6 986.5 990.2

987.1

984.6986.0

974.9

980.0

981.9

986.2
989.7

993.8 998.7

1003.0

1002.7

997.8

997.2

1000.1

997.5

999.7

999.0

999.0

998.7

997.7

996.5

995.7 998.2

973.5

974.1

975.8 978.9 983.1
989.3

997.1

1000.5

1000.5

1000.4

999.9

999.2

998.5

997.9

997.1

996.0

995.2

992.8

992.6
992.3

992.0991.2
990.7

990.6
990.3

990.0
990.1

990.2 990.6 991.4
992.9

995.3

996.2

998.4

999.7

1000.8

1000.6

1002.2

1000.7

996.4

996.4

996.9

997.6

998.3

998.9

999.4

1000.0

1000.3

1000.4

1000.6

990.1
990.0

990.2
990.5

990.9
991.5

992.5
993.0

993.8

50

50

3333
33

33

S89°47'07"W 100.00

S0
0°

12
'5

3"
E 

10
0.

00

N
00

°1
2'

53
"W

 1
00

.0
0

N89°47'07"E 100.00

S89°47'07"W 50.00

29
6.

83

S0
0°

12
'5

3"
E

30
.0

0

S89°47'07"W 50.00

N89°47'07"E 150.00

N
00

°1
2'

53
"W

 6
0.

00

S0
0°

12
'5

3"
E

30
.0

0

978.7

POINT OF BEGINNING
LEASE AREA

POINT OF
BEGINNING ACCESS &

UTILITY EASEMENT

TOWER CENTER
Decimal Degrees Degrees-Minutes-Seconds

LATITUDE:      N044.979239°  N044° 58' 45.26"
 LONGITUDE:  W093.646050° W093° 38' 45.78"

GROUND ELEVATION: 978.7 Feet (NAVD 88)

LEASE AREA

ACCESS & UTILITY
EASEMENT

WEST RIGHT OF
WAY LINE OF

McCULLEY ROAD

632

345

50

50

50

50

NORTH LINE OF THE SOUTH 632 FEET OF THE SE
1/4 OF THE SE 1/4, SEC. 36, T. 118 N, R. 24 W

WEST LINE OF THE
EAST 345 FEET OF
THE SE 1/4 OF THE
SE 1/4, SEC. 36, T.
118 N, R. 24 W

EAST LINE OF THE
SE 1/4 OF THE SE
1/4, SEC. 36, T.
118 N, R. 24 W

RIGHT OF WAY DEPICTED PER
THE HENNEPIN COUNTY
HALF/EIGHTH SECTION MAP

17

17

RIGHT OF WAY PER
HCSAH 19, PLAT 49

RIGHT OF WAY DEPICTED PER THE HENNEPIN COUNTY
HALF/EIGHTH SECTION MAP

SE CORNER OF THE SE 1/4 OF THE SE 1/4, SEC.
36, T. 118 N, R. 24 W
FOUND CIM

PUBLIC ROAD

PU
BL

IC
 R

O
AD

NO DATE BY CKD APPR SHEET

OF

DRAWN BY

DESIGNED BY

CHECKED BY

PROJECT NO.
REV.

COMMENT

Engineering | Surveying | Planning | Environmental
© 2021 Sambatek24

.1
S 

(L
M

S 
TE

CH
)  

 |
   

M
AR

K 
SA

LO
, L

S 
(M

N
, O

K,
 W

I) 
   

| 
   

11
/1

2/
20

24
 8

:5
1:

25
 A

M
L:

\P
RO

JE
CT

S\
53

24
2\

SI
TE

 N
AM

E\
RE

D 
O

AK
\C

AD
\S

U
RV

EY
\S

HE
ET

S\
53

24
2-

ES
M

-R
ED

 O
AK

.D
W

G
:E

SM

DATE ISSUED

THE TOWERS, LLC
SITE # US-MN-5154 MIN RED OAK

87 McCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, HENNEPIN COUNTY, MINNESOTA 5535953242

10/30/2024 CDJ

MRS

A 11/12/2024 CDJ MRS MRS CLIENT COMMENTS

SCALE               IN                  FEET

0 6030
NORTH

LEASE AREA & UTILITY & ACCESS EASEMENT SURVEY MAP
1

1
1

1. This survey was prepared utilizing Title Commitment No. VTB-184896-C prepared by Fidelity National Title
Insurance Company , bearing a commitment date of 06/30/2024 Insuring agent: Tower Title, LLC.

2. The bearing system for this survey is based on the Henepin County coordinate system, NAD83 (1986 Adjust). The
east line of the SE Quarter, Section 36, Township 118N, Range 24W is assumed to bear North 00 degrees 12
minutes 53 seconds East. The originating monument utilized to establish the horizontal position of this survey was
the SE corner of said section.

3. The vertical datum is based on NAVD88. The originating benchmarks are SLAUG (Elev=990.926) and Y 117 RESET
(Elev=1013.666), both referenced from the NGS Geodetic Database.

4. A Gopher State One Call (GSOC) request was placed on 10/11/2024 and assigned GSOC Ticket No(s). 242852643,
242852644 and 24852645. Utility information shown hereon is a compilation of provided map information and
those visible utilities and marked utilities which were located during the survey field work. Utility suppliers often
do not respond to locate requests in the field but may provide maps, plans, and drawings in lieu of physical
location. The surveyor makes no guarantees that the underground utilities shown hereon comprise all such utilities
in the area, either in service or abandoned. The surveyor further does not warrant that the underground utilities
shown hereon are in the exact location as indicated, although they are located as accurately as possible from the
available information. The surveyor has not physically located the underground utilities. Pursuant to MS 216.D
contact Gopher State One Call at (651-454-0002) prior to any excavation.

6. Subject property's address is 87 McCulley, Independence, MN 55364. The property identification number is
3611824440009.

7. The subject property zoning information was not provided.

8. The surveyed property lies within Flood Plain Zone X – 'Areas determined to be outside the 0.2% annual chance
flood plain', as depicted by scaled map location and graphic plotting according to FEMA, FIRM Map No.
27053c0285F dated 11/04/2016.

9. The access and utility easement has access to McCulley Road as shown hereon.

10.The lease area and access and utility easement lie completely within the parcel as described in the title
commitment, being the same land vested in Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K. Vensel, or successor(s) as Trustees of
the Vensel Family Trust as described in Warranty Deed dated 10/28/2012 and recorded 12/05/2022 in Instrument
No. 11167056 in Hennepin County, Minnesota.

11.Field work was completed on 10/10/2024.

SURVEY NOTES

OVERHEAD ELECTRICAL WIRE

LIGHT

SANITARY SEWER
STORM SEWER

WATERMAIN

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC

GUY ANCHOR
UTILITY POLE
GUARD POST

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE
UNDERGROUND GAS

CHAIN LINK FENCE
WOOD FENCE

BUILDING LINE
CONCRETE CURB

BITUMINOUS SURFACE
CONCRETE SURFACE

WET LAND

SIGN

TRAFFIC MARKERS
POND / WATER LINE
FEMA FLOOD ZONE LINE

SOIL BORING

TREE LINE

FOUND MONUMENT
SECTION CORNER
AS NOTED

EASEMENT LINE
SETBACK LINE
RESTRICTED ACCESS

FOUND RIGHT-OF-WAY
MONUMENT

SET MONUMENT
SECTION LINE

UNDERLYING / ADJACENT LOT
TIE LINE

BOUNDARY LINE

DEED DISTANCE(100.00)

CONIFEROUS TREE
TRANSFORMER

BUILDING CANOPY

REGULAR PARKING
STALL COUNTGAS METER

COMMUNICATIONS MANHOLE

ELECTRIC MANHOLE
GAS MANHOLE

ELECTRIC METER
TELEPHONE PEDESTAL
CABLE TV BOX

GATE VALVE / HYDRANT
SANITARY MANHOLE
CLEAN OUT
STORM MANHOLE
STORM CATCH BASIN
FLARED END SECTION

SPOT ELEVATION
CONTOUR

RETAINING WALL
BLOCK RETAINING WALL
STONE RETAINING WALL

RIGHT-OF-WAY LINE

WIRE FENCE

DECIDUOUS TREE

999.9

##

LEGEND

SUBJECT PROPERTY
Description from title commitment:

Real property in Hennepin County, Minnesota, described as follows:

The East 345 feet of the South 632 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 118
North, Range 24 West of the 5th Principal Meridian, subject to the right of way of a public road along the South and East
sides thereof.

The following notes correspond to the reference numbers listed in Schedule B, Section 2 of the title commitment.

Schedule B, Section II items  per Title Commitment:

None

LEASE AREA:

That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 118 North, Range 24 West,
Hennepin County, Minnesota, described as follows:

Commencing at the southeast corner of said the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36
thence North 00 degrees 12 minutes 53 seconds West, assumed bearing along the east line of said Southeast
Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, a distance of 296.83 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds
West, a distance of 50.00 to the intersection of the west right of way line of McCulley Road; thence continue
South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds West, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence South 00 degrees 12 minutes 53
seconds East, a distance of 30.00 feet to the point of beginning; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds
West, a distance of 100.00 feet; thence South 00 degrees 12 seconds 53 seconds East, a distance of 100.00 feet;
thence North 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds East, a distance of 100.00 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12
minutes 53 seconds West, a distance of 100.00 feet to the point of beginning and there terminating.

Containing 10,000 s.f. or 0.2296 acres

ACCESS AND UTILITY EASEMENT:

That part of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36, Township 118 North, Range 24 West,
Hennepin County, Minnesota, described as follows:

Commencing at the southeast corner of said the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36
thence North 00 degrees 12 minutes 53 seconds West, assumed bearing along the east line of said Southeast
Quarter of the Southeast Quarter, a distance of 296.83 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds
West, a distance of 50.00 to the intersection of the west right of way line of McCulley Road and the point of
beginning; thence continue South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds West, a distance of 50.00 feet; thence
South 00 degrees 12 minutes 53 seconds East, a distance of 30.00 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 07
seconds West, a distance of 100.00 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12 minutes 53 seconds West, a distance of
60.00 feet; thence North 89 degrees 47 minutes 07 seconds East, a distance of 150.00 feet to the intersection of
the said west right of way line; thence South 00 degrees 12 minutes 53 seconds East along said west right of way
line, a distance of 30.00 feet to the point of beginning and there terminating.

Containing 7,500 s.f. or 0.1722 acres

DESCRIPTION

I hereby certify to Vertical Bridge REIT, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, its subsidiaries,
and their respective successors and/or assigns, Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as Administrative
Agent, for itself and on behalf of the lenders parties from time to time to that certain Second
Amended and Restated Loan Agreement dated June 17, 2016 with Vertical Bridge Holdco, LLC, as
borrower and Vertical Bridge Holdco Parent, LLC, as parent, as may be amended, restated,
modified or renewed, their successors and assigns as their interest may appear and Tower Title,
LLC.

Dated this 12th day of November, 2024.

Sambatek, Inc.

Mark R. Salo
Minnesota License No. 43933
msalo@sambatek.com

CERTIFICATION

VICINITY MAP

SITE
N.T.S.

CITY OF
MAPLE PLAIN

6

19
12

McCULLE
Y   R

OAD

TOWER CENTER
Decimal Degrees Degrees-Minutes-Seconds

LATITUDE:      N044.979239° N044° 58' 45.26"
LONGITUDE:  W093.646050° W093° 38' 45.78"

GROUND ELEVATION: 978.7 Feet (NAVD 88)

TOWER CENTER

OBSERVED POSSIBLE ENCROACHMENTS
None Observed at the time of the survey.



COUNTY ROAD 19

M
cC

U
LL

EY
 R

O
AD

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

NORTH

OVERALL SITE PLAN

SCALE:1
OVERALL SITE PLAN

1" = 60'

NORTH

TOWER ELEVATION

SCALE:2
TOWER ELEVATION

1" = 30'_1

NOTES:
1. SEE SHEET A-1.1 FOR PROPOSED
GRADING AND EROSION CONTROL PLAN



SHEET CONTENTS:

SCALE:1
SITE GRADING PLAN

1" = 20'-0"

NORTH

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-1.1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SITE GRADING PLAN

M
cC

U
LL

EY
 R

O
AD



SHEET CONTENTS:

SCALE:1
ENLARGED SITE PLAN

3/32" = 1'-0"

NORTH

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

ENLARGED SITE PLAN



SHEET CONTENTS:

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-3

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

2
SILT FENCE DETIAL

1
CONSTRUCTION EXIT DETAIL

DRAINAGE,
GRADING & EROSION
CONTROL NOTES & DETAILS



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-4

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
FENCE DETAILS

2
BARBED WIRE ARM DETAIL 3

MUSHROOM STOP DETAIL

SCALE:1
GATE DETAIL

1/4" = 1'-0"

C



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-5

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
FENCE NOTES
FENCE DETAILS

1
POST FOOTINGS

2
FABRIC/BAR CONNECTIONS

C



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-6

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
SITE SIGNAGE DETAILS

A B

E F

DC

DF
A

EC

C

CC

C
E

A
D

F
1

SITE SIGNAGE



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-7

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GRAVEL DRIVE SECTION

SCALE:3
BOLLARD DETAIL

1/2" = 1'-0"

SURFACING DETAIL 

4
UTILITY TRENCH DETAIL

SCALE:1
GRAVEL DRIVE SECTION

3/8" = 1'-0" 2
COMPOUND SURFACING DETAIL

BOLLARD DETAIL
UTILITY TRENCH DETAIL



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

A-8

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
PHOTOS

VIEW: LOOKING EAST1
SITE PHOTO

VIEW: LOOKING NORTH2
SITE PHOTO

VIEW: LOOKING WEST3
SITE PHOTO

VIEW: LOOKING NORTH4
SITE PHOTO



GENERAL GROUNDING NOTES:

·

·

·
·

·

·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

·
·

·

·

SYMBOL AND NOTE LEGEND

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

G-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GROUNDING NOTES

SCALE:1
EXOTHERMIC WELD DETAILS

NTS

SCALE:2
COMPRESSION CONNECTOR DETAILS

NTS



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

G-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

NORTH

GROUNDING PLAN

SCALE:1
GROUNDING PLAN

NTS



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

G-3

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GROUNDING DETAILS

SCALE:4
GROUND RING & ROD DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:2
REBAR GROUNDING DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:1
CONDUIT DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:3
TOWER GROUND BAR DETAIL

NONE



M
cC

U
LL

EY
 R

O
AD

COUNTY ROAD 19

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

U-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

SCALE:1
SITE UTILITY PLAN

1" = 50'

NORTH

SITE UTILITY PLAN
ENLARGED SITE UTILITY PLAN

SCALE:2
PULLBOX LOCATION PLAN

3/32" = 1'-0"

NORTH

SCALE:3
ENLARGED SITE UTILITY PLAN

1/16" = 1'-0"

NORTH

2
U-1

PULLBOX LOCATION PLAN

3
U-1



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

U-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
METER UTILITY FRAME DETAIL

SCALE:1
METER UTILITY FRAME DETAIL

NONE



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW A-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

NORTH

VERIZON SITE PLAN

SCALE:1
VERIZON SITE PLAN

1/8" = 1'-0"

NORTH

TOWER ELEVATION

SCALE:2
TOWER ELEVATION

1" = 30'_1



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW A-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SCALE:3
ANTENNA MOUNTING DETAIL

3/16" = 1'-0"

SHEET CONTENTS:
RFDS INFORMATION
RFDS PLUMBING DIAGRAM

NORTH

1
RFDS INFORMATION

2
RFDS PLUMBING DIAGRAM

ANTENNA MOUNTING DETAIL



7

4

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW A-3

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
FOUNDATION PLAN & DETAILS
LAYOUT PLAN
ELEVATIONS

SCALE:1
SLAB PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"

SCALE:5
FRONT ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0" SCALE:6
SIDE ELEVATION

1/4" = 1'-0"

SCALE:2
CANOPY PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"

SCALE:3
FOUNDATION PLAN

3/8" = 1'-0"

7

SCALE:4
FOUNDATION SECTION

3/8" = 1'-0"

SCALE:7
DETAIL

Custom



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW A-4

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
CABLE BRIDGE DETAILS

SCALE:1
CABLE BRIDGE SECTION

1/2" = 1'-0"

NORTH

SCALE:2
CABLE BRIDGE PLAN

3/16" = 1'-0"

4
CABLE LADDER DETAIL

CABLE LADDER DETAIL
GPS DETAILS

SCALE: N.T.S3
GPS ANTENNA MOUNTING



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW A-5

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GENERATOR DETAILS

SCALE:1
GENERATOR PAD SECTION

3/8" = 1'-0"

SCALE:2
GENERATOR PAD PLAN

3/8" = 1'-0"

SCALE:3
GENERATOR PLAN

3/8" = 1'-0"

SCALE:4
GENERATOR ELEVATIONS

1/4" = 1'-0"



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW G-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

NORTH

GROUNDING PLAN

SCALE:1
GROUNDING PLAN

NTS



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW G-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
GROUNDING DETAILS

SCALE:5
GROUND RING & ROD DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:3
REBAR GROUNDING DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:4
CONDUIT DETAIL

NONE

SCALE:1
TYPICAL CABLE BRIDGE GROUNDING  DETAIL

NONE SCALE:6
FRONT ELEVATION

NONE SCALE:7
BACK ELEVATION

NONESCALE:2
TOWER GROUND BAR DETAIL

NONE



PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW U-1

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:

SCALE:1
SITE UTILITY PLAN

1/16" = 1'-0"

NORTH

VZW UTILITY PLAN

M
cC

U
LL

EY
 R

O
AD



·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

PROJECT 

DRAWN BY:
CHECKED BY:

RED OAK

87 MCCULLEY ROAD
MAPLE PLAIN, MN 55359

US-MN-5154

VZW U-2

SJD
TAB

REV. A 11-14-24
REV. B 11-25-24
REV. C 01-23-25

9973 VALLEY VIEW RD.
EDEN PRAIRIE, MN 55344
(952) 903-9299

DESIGN

WWW.DESIGN1EP.COM

NOT FOR
CONSTRUCTION

PREPARED FOR:

TH
E 

TO
W

ER
S,

 L
LC

75
0 

PA
R

K 
O

F 
C

O
M

M
ER

C
E 

D
R

.
SU

IT
E 

20
0

BO
C

A 
R

AT
O

N
, F

L 
33

48
7

SHEET CONTENTS:
CONDUIT ROUTING PLAN

SCALE:2
ONE-LINE ELECTRICAL DIAGRAM

NONE

ONE LINE ELECTRIC DIAGRAM

SCALE:1
CONDUIT ROUTING PLAN

1/4" = 1'-0"



MIN RED OAK Coverage Before and After Comparison 

The following simulation maps show the coverage improvement in the area surrounding the proposed 

MIN RED OAK site. Currently the site is surrounded by areas of low coverage, as measured by RSRP 

(Reference Signal Received Power). This measures the power level received by the wireless device in a 

certain location, given in decibels (dB). For a typical case, “good” coverage, that is, coverage that will 

provide reliable service both indoors and outdoors, is anything above around -85 dB. Coverage that is 

somewhat reliable, but may start to show signs of degraded reliability, would be below that level to 

around -95 dB; Verizon would consider that “Fair” coverage. And “Poor” coverage would then be signal 

levels below that -95 dB to -105 dB. Signal may exist and be sufficient in some situations below that 

level, but reliability is very degraded and the likelihood that a user would be able to maintain a 

consistent connection is low. 

The first map (Figure 1, below) shows the signal levels as described above as it is today. Red areas show 

where coverage is “good”, yellow is where Verizon has “fair” coverage, and blue is “poor” coverage.  

 

 

Figure 1: Existing Coverage surrounding the proposed MIN RED OAK Site 



Figure 2 below shows the impact of adding MIN RED OAK to our network. MIN RED OAK has converted 

all the areas surrounding it for a couple of miles from “poor” or “fair” to “good”, and has also converted 

areas further from the site from “fair” to good. This includes ensuring consistent coverage for the 

entirety of N Shore Dr between Lake Minnetonka and US Hwy 12, which currently ranges from fair to 

poor coverage.  

 

Figure 2: Proposed Coverage surrounding the proposed MIN RED OAK Site 

 

In addition to the coverage simulations provided, Verizon has measured data from several drive tests 

that confirms the current poor coverage in the area, and we are confident that MIN RED OAK is the best 

solution to fill in these coverage gaps and ensure reliable communications for customers in the area 

north of Lake Minnetonka.  



December 16, 2024 

Jennifer Schaumburg B+T Group 
The Towers, LLC 1717 S. Boulder, Suite 300 
750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200 Tulsa, OK 74119 
Boca Raton, Florida 33487 (918) 587-4630 

btwo@btgrp.com 

Subject:  Fall Certification Letter 
Arcosa Designation:   Arcosa Project Number:             B412 

Arcosa Site Name:          Red Oak (US-MN-5154) 

Engineering Firm Designation: B+T Group Project Number:      174295.001.01.0001 

Site Data: Red Oak (US-MN-5154) 
180’ext195’ Self Support Tower 

To Whom it May Concern: 

As Requested by Arcosa Telecom Structures on behalf of The Towers, LLC, B+T Group is pleased to 
submit this “Fall Certification Letter” for the 180’ext 195’ Self Support Tower to be constructed at the Red 
Oak (US-MN-5154) site. 

This tower will be designed in accordance with the TIA 222-H standard for Hennepin County, MN.  
The tower will be designed to support antennas and transmission lines for four wireless carriers. The 
design criteria are more particularly described as follows: 

Design Wind Speed: 109mph 3-sec gust (no ice), 50mph 3-sec gust (1.5” ice) 
Structure Class: II 
Exposure Category: C 
Topographic Category: 1 

175’—Wireless Carrier 1 (CaAa= 42,000 sq in w/ (18) 1 5/8” transmission lines 
165’—Wireless Carrier 2 (CaAa= 30,000 sq in w/ (12) 1 5/8” transmission lines 
155’—Wireless Carrier 3 (CaAa= 30,000 sq in w/ (12) 1 5/8” transmission lines 
145’—Wireless Carrier 4 (2) 6’ MW Dishes (6GHZ) w/ (9) 1.625 transmission lines 

Currently it is our understanding that this structure be designed such that, if a failure were to occur, the 
tower would fall within a radius of 90.0’ from the base of the structure. It should be understood that 
communication structures are designed in accordance with strict structural standards and it is extremely 
rare that well maintained towers fail under normal operational conditions. However, in the highly unlikely 
event that this tower were to experience operational failure, the failure mode would most likely be 
compression buckling. In a compression buckling failure, it is reasonable to assume a structure of this 
type would most likely collapse and fall on itself within a radius of 90.0’ from the base of the tower. 
It should be understood that this opinion does not consider unpredictable extreme catastrophic events for 
which the structure is not designed. However, any damage to surrounding property caused by the tower 
failing during such an event would be relatively insignificant when compared to the damage caused to the 
surrounding property by the event itself. 

I hope this letter satisfies your concerns. Please let us know if we may be of further assistance. 

Respectfully submitted by: B+T Engineering, Inc. 

Chad E. Tuttle, P.E. 



Landlord:

Tenant:
The Towers, LLC
750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200
Boca Raton, Florida 33487

Site #: US-MN-5154
Site Name: RED OAK

OPTION AND LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS OPTION AND LEASE AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”) is made this I day of
Octehes , 2021/ (the “Effective Date”) by and between Lawrence F. Vensel &

Susan K. Vensel, or successors(s) as Trustees of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012
(“Landlord”), whose address is , and The Towers,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, doing business in the State of Minnesota as The Towers BTS
of Minnesota LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant”), whose address is 750 Park of
Commerce Drive, Suite 200, Boca Raton, Florida 33487.

WHEREAS, Landlord owns certain real property located in the County of Hennepin, in the State
or Commonwealth of Minnesota, that is more particularly described and/or depicted in Exhibit 1 attached
hereto (the “Property”); and,

WHEREAS, Tenant desires to lease from Landlord a certain portion of the Property measuring
approximately 10,000 square feet and to obtain easements for landscape buffer, utilities and access
(collectively, the “Premises”), which Premises is more particularly described and/or depicted in Exhibit 2
attached hereto, for the placement of Communications Facilities (defined below).

NOW THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which
are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree:

1. OPTION TO LEASE.

(a) As of the Effective Date, Landlord grants to Tenant the exclusive option to lease the
Premises (the “Option”) during the Option Period (defined below). At any time during the Option Period
and Term (defined below), Tenant and its agents, engineers, surveyors and other representatives will have
the right to enter upon the Property to inspect, examine, conduct soil borings, drainage testing, material
sampling, and other geological or engineering tests or studies of the Property (collectively, the “Tests”), to
apply for and obtain licenses, permits, approvals, or other relief required of or deemed necessary or
appropriate at Tenant’s sole discretion for its use of the Premises including, without limitation, applications
for zoning variances, zoning ordinances, amendments, special use permits, construction permits and any
other permits and approvals deemed necessary by Tenant (collectively, the “Government Approvals”),
initiate the ordering and/or scheduling of necessary utilities, obtain a title report with respect to the Property,
and otherwise to do those things on or off the Property that, in the opinion of Tenant, are necessary in
Tenant’s sole discretion to determine the physical condition of the Property, the environmental history of
the Property, and the feasibility or suitability of the Property for Tenant’s permitted use under this

1
VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



Agreement, all at Tenant’s expense. Tenant shall be authorized to apply for the Government Approvals on
behalf of Landlord and Landlord agrees to reasonably cooperate with such applications. Tenant will not be
liable to Landlord or any third party on account of any pre-existing defect or condition on or with respect
to the Property, whether or not such defect or condition is disclosed by Tenant’s Tests. Tenant will restore
the Property to its condition as it existed prior to conducting any Tests, reasonable wear and tear and
casualty not caused by Tenant excepted. In addition, Tenant shall indemnify, defend and hold Landlord
harmless from and against any and all injury, loss, damage or claims arising directly out of Tenant’s Tests.

(b) In consideration of Landlord granting Tenant the Option, Tenant agrees to pay Landlord
the sum of within thirty (30) days of the full execution of this
Agreement. The Option Period will be for a term of four (4) years from the Effective Date (the “Option
Period”).

(c) Tenant may exercise the Option at any time during the Option Period by delivery of written
notice to Landlord (the “Notice of Exercise of Option”). The Notice of Exercise of Option shall set forth
the commencement date (the “Commencement Date”) of the Initial Term (defined below). If Tenant does
not provide a Notice of Exercise of Option during the Option Period, this Agreement will terminate and the
parties will have no further liability to each other.

(d) During the Option Period or the Term, Landlord shall not take any action to change the
zoning status or land use of the Property which would diminish, impair, or adversely affect the use of the
Premises by Tenant for its permitted uses hereunder.

2. TERM.

(a) Effective as of the Commencement Date, Landlord leases the Premises to Tenant subject
to the terms and conditions of this Agreement for an initial term of five (5) years (the “Initial Term”).

(b) Tenant shall have the option to extend the Initial Term for nine (9) successive terms of
five (5) years each (each a “Renewal Term”). Each Renewal Term shall commence automatically, unless
Tenant delivers notice to Landlord, not less than thirty (30) days prior to the end of the then-current Term,
of Tenant’s intent not to renew. For purposes of this Agreement, “Term” shall mean the Initial Term and
any applicable Renewal Term(s).

3. RENT

(a) Beginning on the first (1st) day of the third (3rd) month after the Commencement Date
(“Rent Commencement Date”), Tenant shall pay to Landlord a monthly rent payment of

(“Rent”) at the address set forth in Section 29 above on or before the fifth (5th) day of
each calendar month in advance. The initial payment of Rent will be forwarded by Tenant to Landlord
within thirty (30) days after the Rent Commencement Date.

(b) Beginning on the first anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date of the first Renewal
Term and each five-year anniversary of the Rent Commencement Date of each Renewal Term thereafter
throughout the remainder of the Term and Renewal Term(s), if any, the Rent shall be increased by an
amount equal to of the amount of the Rent for the previous Term or previous Renewal Term, as the
case may be, which sum shall be payable in equal monthly installments in advance as herein set forth.

4. TAXES. Tenant shall pay any personal property taxes assessed on, or any portion of such taxes
attributable to, the Communications Facilities located on the Premises. Landlord shall pay when due all

2
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



real property taxes and all other fees and assessments attributable to the Property and the Premises. Tenant
shall pay as additional rent any increase in real property taxes levied against the Premises, which are directly
attributable to Tenant’s use of the Premises (but not, however, taxes attributable to periods prior to the
Commencement Date such as roll-back or greenbelt assessments) if Landlord furnishes proof of such
increase to Tenant (such increase, the “Landlord Tax Reimbursement”). In the event that Landlord fails
to pay when due any taxes affecting the Premises or any easement relating to the Premises, Tenant shall
have the right, but not the obligation, to pay such taxes and any applicable interest, penalties or similar
charges, and deduct the full amount of the taxes and such charges paid by Tenant on Landlord’s behalf from
future installments of Rent. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant shall not have the obligation to pay any
tax, assessment, or charge that Tenant is disputing in good faith in appropriate proceedings prior to a final
determination that such tax is properly assessed, provided that no lien attaches to the Property. In addition,
Tenant shall not have the obligation to pay or reimburse Landlord for the Landlord Tax Reimbursement if
Landlord has not provided proof of such amount and demand therefor within one (1) year of the date such
amount is due and payable by Landlord.

5. USE. The Premises are being leased for the purpose of erecting, installing, operating, maintaining,
repairing and replacing radio or communications towers, transmitting and receiving equipment, antennas,
dishes, satellite dishes, mounting structures, equipment shelters and buildings, solar energy conversion and
electrical power generation system, fencing and other supporting structures and related equipment
(collectively, the “Communications Facilities”), and to alter, supplement and/or modify same. Tenant
may, subject to the foregoing, make any improvements, alterations or modifications to the Premises as are
deemed appropriate by Tenant for the permitted use herein. Tenant shall have the right to clear the Premises
of any trees, vegetation, or undergrowth which interferes with the use of the Premises for the intended
purposes by Tenant and/or its subtenants and licensees, as applicable. Tenant shall have the exclusive right
to install and operate the Communications Facilities upon the Premises.

6. ACCESS AND UTILITIES. During the Term, Tenant and its guests, agents, employees,
customers, invitees, subtenants, licensees and assigns shall have the unrestricted, exclusive right to use, and
shall have free and unfettered access to, the Premises seven (7) days a week, twenty-four (24) hours a day.
Landlord for itself, its successors and assigns, hereby grants and conveys unto Tenant, its customers,
employees, agents, invitees, subtenants, licensees, successors and assigns a non-exclusive easement
throughout the Term to a public right of way (a) for ingress and egress, and (b) for the construction,
installation, operation, maintenance, repair and replacement of overhead and underground electric and other
utility facilities (including fiber, backhaul, wires, poles, guys, cables, conduits and appurtenant equipment),
with the right to reconstruct, improve, add to, enlarge, change and remove such facilities, over, across and
through any easement for the benefit of and access to the Premises, subject to the terms and conditions
herein set forth. Landlord agrees to coordinate, cooperate and assist Tenant with obtaining the required
access and utility easements to the Premises from a public right of way up to and including negotiating and
obtaining such access and utility rights from any applicable neighbor parcel. If there are utilities already
existing on the Premises which serve the Premises, Tenant may utilize such utilities and services. The rights
granted to Tenant herein shall also include the right to partially assign its rights hereunder to any public or
private utility company or authority to facilitate the uses contemplated herein, and all other rights and
privileges reasonably necessary for Tenant’s safe and efficient use and enjoyment of the easements for the
purposes described above. Upon Tenant’s request, Landlord shall execute and deliver to Tenant requisite
recordable documents evidencing the easements contemplated hereunder within fifteen (15) days of
Tenant’s request, and Landlord shall obtain the consent and joinder of Landlord’s mortgagee to any such
grant, if applicable. Any roadway used for access to the Premises to be constructed, improved, and/or used
by Tenant during the Term shall be maintained and repaired by Tenant; however, in the event Landlord (or
anyone acting on behalf of Landlord or with Landlord’s consent, implied or otherwise, including without

3
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



limitation Landlord invitees, employees, contractors, etc.) uses the access roadway and such use causes
damage to same, then Landlord shall be responsible for any repairs required to repair the access roadway.

7. EQUIPMENT, FIXTURES AND REMOVAL. The Communications Facilities shall at all times
be the personal property of Tenant and/or its subtenants and licensees, as applicable. Tenant or its
customers, subtenants or licensees shall have the right to erect, install, maintain, repair, replace and operate
on the Premises such equipment, structures, fixtures, signs, and personal property as Tenant, its customers,
subtenants or licensees may deem necessary or appropriate, and such property, including the equipment,
structures, fixtures, signs, and personal property currently on the Premises, shall not be deemed to be part
of the Premises, but shall remain the property of Tenant or its customers, subtenants or licensees. Within
ninety (90) days after the expiration or earlier termination of this Agreement (the “Removal Period”),
Tenant, customers, subtenants or licensees shall remove its improvements and personal property and restore
the Premises including any footings and foundations down to a depth of two (2’) feet below grade level,
but excluding underground utilities (if any) and perform all obligations under this Agreement during the
Removal Period, including, without limitation, the payment of Rent at the rate in effect upon the expiration
or termination of this Agreement.

8. ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLEASE. Tenant may transfer or assign this Agreement to Tenant’s
Lender (defined below), principal, affiliates, subsidiaries, subsidiaries of its principal or to any entity which
acquires all of or substantially all of Tenant’s assets or ownership interests by reasons of merger, acquisition
or other business reorganization without Landlord’s consent (a “Permitted Assignment”). As to transfers
or assignments which do not constitute a Permitted Assignment, Tenant is required to obtain Landlord’s
written consent prior to effecting such transfer or assignment, which consent shall not be unreasonably
withheld, conditioned or delayed. Upon such assignment, including a Permitted Assignment, Tenant will
be relieved and released of all obligations and liabilities hereunder. Tenant shall have the exclusive right to
sublease or grant licenses without Landlord’s consent to use all or part of the Premises and/or the
Communications Facilities, but no such sublease or license shall relieve or release Tenant from its
obligations under this Agreement. Landlord may assign this Agreement only in its entirety and only to any
person or entity who or which acquires fee title to the Property, subject to Section 15. Landlord may
subdivide the Property without Tenant’s prior written consent provided the resulting parcels from such
subdivision are required to afford Tenant the protections set forth in Section 14 hereof.

9. COVENANTS, WARRANTIES AND REPRESENTATIONS.

(a) Landlord warrants and represents that it is the owner in fee simple of the Property, free and
clear of all liens and encumbrances except as to those which may have been disclosed to Tenant in writing
prior to the execution hereof, and that it alone has full right to lease the Premises for the Term.

(b) Landlord shall pay promptly, when due, any other amounts or sums due and owing with
respect to its ownership and operation of the Property, including, without limitationjudgments, taxes, liens,
mortgage payments and other similar encumbrances. If Landlord fails to make any payments required
under this Agreement, or breaches any other obligation or covenant under this Agreement, Tenant may
(without obligation), after providing ten (10) days written notice to Landlord, make such payment or
perform such obligation on behalf of Landlord and offset such payment (including any reasonable attorneys’
fees incurred in connection with Tenant performing such obligation) against payments of Rent.

(c) Landlord shall not do or knowingly permit anything that will interfere with or negate any
special use permit or approval pertaining to the Premises or cause Tenant’s use of the Premises to be in
nonconformance with applicable local, state, or federal laws. Landlord shall cooperate with Tenant in any
effort by Tenant to obtain certificates, permits, licenses and other approvals that may be required by any

4
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



governmental authorities. Landlord agrees to execute any necessary applications, consents or other
documents as may be reasonably necessary for Tenant to apply for and obtain the Government Approvals
required to use and maintain the Premises and the Communications Facilities.

(d) To the best of Landlord’s knowledge, Landlord has complied and shall comply with all
laws with respect to the Property. No asbestos-containing thermal insulation or products containing PCB,
formaldehyde, chlordane, or heptachlor or other hazardous materials have been placed on or in the Property
by Landlord or, to the knowledge of Landlord, by any prior owner or user of the Property. There has been
no release of or contamination by hazardous materials on the Property by Landlord, or to the knowledge of
Landlord, any prior owner or user of the Property.

(e) Tenant shall have access to all utilities required for the operation of Tenant’s improvements
on the Premises that are existing on the Property.

(f) Landlord warrants and represents that there currently exist no licenses, sublicenses, or other
agreements, written or oral, granting to any party or parties the right of use or occupancy of any portion of
the Property; there are no outstanding options or rights of first refusal to purchase the Property or any
portion thereof or interest therein, or any equity or interest in Landlord if Landlord is an entity; and there
are no parties (other than Landlord) in possession of the Property except as to those that may have been
disclosed to Tenant in writing prior to the execution hereof.

10. HOLD OVER TENANCY. Should Tenant or any assignee, sublessee or licensee of Tenant hold
over the Premises or any part thereof after the expiration of this Agreement, such holdover shall constitute
and be construed as a tenancy from month-to-month only, but otherwise upon the same terms and
conditions.

11. INDEMNITIES. Each party agrees to indemnify, defend and hold harmless the other party, its
parent company or other affiliates, successors, assigns, officers, directors, shareholders, managers,
members, agents and employees (collectively, “Indemnified Persons”) from and against all claims,
actions, judgments, damages, liabilities, losses, expenses and costs (including, without limitation,
reasonable attorneys’ fees and court costs) (collectively, “Losses”) caused by or arising out of (a) such
party’s breach of any of its obligations, covenants, representations or warranties contained herein, or (b)
such party’s acts or omissions with regard to this Agreement; provided, however, in no event shall a party
indemnify the other party for any such Losses to the extent arising from the gross negligence or willful
misconduct of the party seeking indemnification. However, in the event of an Indemnified Person’s
contributory negligence or other fault, the Indemnified Person shall not be indemnified hereunder to the
extent that the Indemnified Person’s negligence or other fault caused such Losses. Tenant will indemnify
Landlord from and against any mechanic’s liens or liens of contractors and subcontractors engaged by or
through Tenant.

12. WAIVERS.

(a) Landlord hereby waives any and all lien rights it may have, statutory or otherwise, in and
to the Communications Facilities or any portion thereof, regardless of whether or not such is deemed real
or personal property under applicable laws. Landlord will not assert any claim whatsoever against Tenant
for loss of anticipatory profits or any other indirect, special, incidental or consequential damages incurred
by Landlord as a result of the construction, maintenance, operation or use of the Premises by Tenant.

(b) EACH PARTY HERETO WAIVES ANY AND ALL CLAIMS AGAINST THE OTHER
FOR ANY LOSS, COST, DAMAGE, EXPENSE, INJURY OR OTHER LIABILITY WHICH IS IN THE

5
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



NATURE OF INDIRECT, SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL, PUNITIVE OR CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES
WHICH ARE SUFFERED OR INCURRED AS THE RESULT OF, ARISE OUT OF, OR ARE IN ANY
WAY CONNECTED TO THE PERFORMANCE OF THE OBLIGATIONS UNDER THIS
AGREEMENT.

13. INSURANCE. Tenant shall insure against property damage and bodily injury arising by reason of
occurrences on or about the Premises in the amount of not less than The insurance coverage
provided for herein may be maintained pursuant to master policies of insurance covering other
communication facilities of Tenant and its corporate affiliates. All insurance policies required to be
maintained by Tenant hereunder shall be with responsible insurance companies, authorized to do business
in the State or Commonwealth where the Premises are located if required by law, and shall provide for
cancellation only upon ten (10) days’ prior written notice to Landlord. Tenant shall evidence such insurance
coverage by delivering to Landlord, if requested, a copy of a certificate of insurance of such policies issued
by the insurance companies underwriting such risks.

14. INTERFERENCE. During the Option Period and the Term, Landlord, its successors and assigns,
will not grant any ground lease, license, or easement with respect to the Property (outside of the Premises)
and any property adjacent or contiguous to the Property or in the immediate vicinity of the Property that is
fee owned by Landlord: (a) for any of the uses contemplated in Section 5 herein; or (b) if such lease,
license, or easement would detrimentally impact the Communications Facilities or Tenant’s economic
opportunities at the Premises, or the use thereof. Landlord shall not cause or permit the construction of
communications or broadcast towers or structures, fiber optic backhaul facilities, or satellite facilities on
the Property or on any other property of Landlord adjacent or contiguous to or in the immediate vicinity of
the Property, except for the Communications Facilities constructed by Tenant. Landlord and Tenant intend
by this Agreement for Tenant (and persons deriving rights by, through, or under Tenant) to be the sole
parties to market, use, or sublease any portion of the Property for Communications Facilities during the
Option Period and the Term. Landlord agrees that this restriction on the use of the Property is commercially
reasonable, not an undue burden on Landlord, not injurious to the public interest, and shall be specifically
enforceable by Tenant (and persons deriving rights by, through or under Tenant) in a court of competent
jurisdiction. The foregoing restriction shall run with the land and be binding on the successors and assigns
of Landlord.

15. RIGHT OF FIRST REFUSAL. In the event Landlord determines to sell, transfer, license or
otherwise convey any interest, whether fee simple interest, easement interest, leasehold, or otherwise, and
whether direct or indirect by way of transfer of ownership interests in Landlord if Landlord is an entity,
which interest underlies or affects any or all of the Premises (the “ROFR Property”) to any third party that
is a Third Party Competitor (as defined below), Landlord shall offer Tenant a right of first refusal to
purchase the Premises (or such larger portion of the Property that encompasses the Premises, if
applicable). For purposes herein, a “Third Party Competitor” is any person or entity directly or indirectly
engaged in the business of owning, acquiring, operating, managing, investing in or leasing communications
infrastructure or any person or entity directly or indirectly engaged in the business of owning, acquiring, or
investing in real property leases or easements underlying communications infrastructure. In such event,
Landlord shall send a written notice to Tenant in accordance with Section 29 below that shall contain an
offer to Tenant of a right of first refusal to purchase the ROFR Property, together with a copy of any offer
to purchase, or any executed purchase agreement or letter of intent (each, an “Offer”), which copy shall
include, at a minimum, the purchase price or acquisition price, proposed closing date, and financing terms
(collectively, the “Minimum Terms”). Within thirty (30) days of receipt of such Offer, Tenant shall
provide written notice to Landlord of Tenant’s election to purchase the ROFR Property on the same
Minimum Terms, provided: (a) the closing date shall be no sooner than sixty (60) days after Tenant’s
purchase election notice; (b) given Landlord’s direct relationship and access to Tenant, Tenant shall not be

6
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



responsible for payment of any broker fees associated with an exercise of Tenant’s rights to acquire the
ROFR Property; and, (c) Tenant shall not be required to match any components of the purchase price which
are speculative or incalculable at the time of the Offer. In such event, Landlord agrees to sell the ROFR
Property to Tenant subject to Tenant’s payment of the purchase price and compliance with a purchase and
sale agreement to be negotiated in good faith between Landlord and Tenant. If Tenant provides written
notice that it does not elect to exercise its right of first refusal to purchase the ROFR Property, or if Tenant
does not provide notice of its election within the thirty (30) day period, Tenant shall be deemed to have
waived such right of first refusal only with respect to the specific Offer presented (and any subsequent
Offers shall again be subject to Tenant’s continuing right of first refusal hereunder), and Landlord shall be
permitted to consummate the sale of the ROFR Property in accordance with the strict terms of the Offer
(“Permitted Sale”). If Landlord does not consummate the Permitted Sale within ninety (90) days of the
date of Tenant’s waiver of its right of first refusal, including if the Minimum Terms are modified between
Landlord and the Third Party Competitor, Landlord shall be required to reissue a New Offer to Tenant.

16. SECURITY. The parties recognize and agree that Tenant shall have the right to safeguard and
protect its improvements located upon or within the Premises. Consequently, Tenant may elect, at its
expense, to construct such enclosures and/or fences as Tenant reasonably determines to be necessary to
secure the Communications Facilities. Tenant may also undertake any other appropriate means to restrict
access to the Communications Facilities including, without limitation, if applicable, installing security
systems, locks and posting signs for security purposes and as may otherwise be required by law.

17. FORCE MAJEURE. The time for performance by Landlord or Tenant of any term, provision, or
covenant of this Agreement shall be deemed extended by time lost due to delays resulting from acts of God,
strikes, civil riots, floods, pandemics, material or labor restrictions by governmental authority, government
shutdowns, quarantines, and/or other disease control measures and any other cause not within the control
of Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be.

18. CONDEMNATION; CASUALTY.

(a) In the event Landlord receives any notice of any condemnation proceedings, or other
proceedings in the nature of eminent domain related to the Property or the Premises, it will forthwith send
a copy of such notice to Tenant. If all or any part of the Premises is taken by eminent domain, Tenant may,
upon written notice to Landlord, elect to terminate this Agreement, whereupon neither party shall have any
further liability or obligation hereunder. Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreement to the contrary,
in the event of condemnation of all or any part of the Premises, Landlord and Tenant shall be entitled to
separate awards with respect to the Premises, in the amount determined by the court conducting such
condemnation proceedings based upon Landlord’s and Tenant’s respective interests in the Premises. If a
separate condemnation award is not determined by such court, Landlord shall permit Tenant to participate
in the allocation and distribution of the award. In no event shall the condemnation award to Landlord
exceed the unimproved value of the Premises, without taking into account the improvements located
thereon.

(b) In case of damage to the Premises or the Communications Facilities by fire or other
casualty, Landlord shall, at its expense, cause any damage to the Property (excluding the Communications
Facilities) to be repaired to a condition as nearly as practicable to that existing prior to the damage, with
reasonable speed and diligence, subject to delays which may arise by reason of adjustment of loss under
insurance policies, governmental regulations, and for delays beyond the control of Landlord, including a
force majeure. Landlord shall coordinate with Tenant as to the completion of Landlord’s work to restore
the Property so as not to adversely impact Tenant’s use of the Premises and the Communications Facilities.
Landlord shall not be liable for any inconvenience or annoyance to Tenant, or injury to Tenant’s business

7
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



or for any consequential damages resulting in any way from such damage or the repair thereof, except to
the extent and for the time that the Communications Facilities or the Premises are thereby rendered unusable
for Tenant’s intended purpose the Rent shall proportionately abate. In the event the damage shall be so
extensive that Tenant shall decide, in its sole discretion, not to repair or rebuild the Communications
Facilities, or if the casualty shall not be of a type insured against under standard fire policies with extended
type coverage, or if the holder of any mortgage, deed of trust or similar security interest covering the
Communications Facilities shall not permit the application of adequate insurance proceeds for repair or
restoration, this Agreement shall, at the sole option of Tenant, exercisable by written notice to Landlord, be
terminated as of the date of such casualty, and the obligation to pay Rent (taking into account any abatement
as aforesaid) shall cease as of the termination date and Tenant shall thereupon promptly vacate the Premises.

19. DEFAULT. The failure of Tenant or Landlord to perform any of the covenants of this Agreement
shall constitute a default. The non-defaulting party shall give the other written notice of such default, and
the defaulting party shall cure such default within thirty (30) days after receipt of such notice. In the event
any such default cannot reasonably be cured within such thirty (30) day period, if the defaulting party shall
proceed promptly after the receipt of such notice to cure such default, and shall pursue curing such default
with due diligence, the time for curing shall be extended for such period of time as may be necessary to
complete such curing, however, in no event shall this extension of time be in excess of sixty (60) days,
unless agreed upon by the non-defaulting party.

20. REMEDIES. Should the defaulting party fail to cure a default under this Agreement, the other
party shall have all remedies available either at law or in equity, and the right to terminate this Agreement.
In the event Landlord elects to terminate this Agreement due to a default by Tenant (which remains uncured
by Lender), Landlord shall continue to honor all sublease and license commitments made by Tenant through
the expiration of the term of any such commitment and shall be entitled to collect and retain the rents or
license fees associated with such subleases or license commitments, it being intended hereby that each such
commitment shall survive the early termination of this Agreement.

21. ATTORNEYS’ FEES. If there is any legal proceeding between Landlord and Tenant arising from
or based on this Agreement, the unsuccessful party to such action or proceeding shall pay to the prevailing
party all costs and expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and disbursements,
incurred by such prevailing party in such action or proceeding and in any appeal in connection therewith.
If such prevailing party recovers a judgment in any such action, proceeding or appeal, such costs, expenses
and attorneys’ fees and disbursements shall be included in and as a part of such judgment.

22. ADDITIONAL TERMINATION RIGHT. If at any time during the Term, Tenant determines,
in Tenant’s sole and absolute discretion, with or without cause, that the Premises is no longer suitable or
desirable for Tenant’s intended use and/or purposes, Tenant shall have the right to terminate this Agreement
upon sixty (60) days prior written notice to Landlord.

23. PRIOR AGREEMENTS. The parties hereby covenant, recognize and agree that the terms and
provisions of this Agreement shall constitute the sole embodiment of the arrangement between the parties
with regard to the Premises, and that all other written or unwritten agreements, contracts, or leases by and
between the parties with regard to the Premises are hereby terminated, superseded and replaced by the terms
hereof.

24. SUBORDINATION, NON-DISTURBANCE AND ATTORNMENT. In the event the Property
is encumbered by a mortgage or deed of trust or other security instrument of any kind (a “Landlord
Mortgage”), Landlord, within fifteen (15) days following Tenant’s request or immediately prior to the
creation of any encumbrance created after the date this Agreement is fully executed, will obtain from the

8
VBSite ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



holder of each such Landlord Mortgage a fully-executed subordination, non-disturbance and attornment
agreement (an “SNDA”) in recordable form, which shall be prepared or approved by Tenant. The holder of
every such Landlord Mortgage shall, in the SNDA, agree that in the event of a foreclosure, or conveyance
in lieu of foreclosure of Landlord’s interest in the Premises, such Landlord Mortgage holder shall recognize
and confirm the validity and existence of this Agreement, not disturb the tenancy of Tenant (and its
customers, subtenants, and licensees) and Tenant (and its customers, subtenants, and licensees) shall have
the right to continue its use and occupancy of the Premises in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement, provided Tenant is not in default of this Agreement beyond applicable notice and cure periods.

25. LENDER’S RIGHTS.

(a) Landlord agrees to recognize the subleases and licenses of all subtenants and licensees and
will permit each of them to remain in occupancy of its premises notwithstanding any default hereunder by
Tenant so long as each such respective subtenant or licensee is not in default under the lease/license
covering its premises. Landlord agrees to execute such documents as any such subtenant and/or licensee
might reasonably require, including customary subordination, non-disturbance and attornment agreements
and/or Landlord recognition agreements, to further memorialize the foregoing, and further agrees to use
Landlord’s best efforts to also cause its lenders to similarly acknowledge, in writing, subtenant’s and
licensee’s right to continue to occupy its premises as provided above.

(b) Tenant shall have the right from time to time to mortgage or otherwise encumber Tenant’s
interest in this Agreement, the Communications Facilities and/or leasehold estate in the Premises (a
“Tenant Mortgage”) and Landlord consents to the granting by Tenant of a lien and security interest in
Tenant’s interest in this Agreement and/or leasehold estate of the Premises and all of Tenant’s personal
property and fixtures attached to the real property described herein, and furthermore consents to the exercise
by any such lender of Tenant (“Lender”) of its rights of foreclosure with respect to its lien and security
interest. Landlord agrees to recognize Lender as Tenant hereunder upon any such exercise by Lender of its
rights of foreclosure. The term “Lender” as used in this Agreement shall mean the lender identified in
Section 29 hereof and its successors, assigns, designees or nominees.

(c) Landlord hereby agrees to give Lender written notice of any breach or default of Tenant of
the terms of this Agreement within fifteen (15) days after the occurrence thereof at the address set forth in
Section 29. Landlord further agrees that no default under this Agreement by Tenant shall be deemed to
have occurred unless such notice to Lender is also given and that, in the event of any such breach or default
under the terms of this Agreement, Lender shall have the right, to the same extent, for the same period and
with the same effect, as Tenant, plus an additional ninety (90) days after any applicable grace period to cure
or correct any such default.

(d) Landlord acknowledges that nothing contained herein shall be deemed or construed to
obligate Lender to take any action hereunder, or to perform or discharge any obligation, duty or liability of
Tenant under this Agreement. Lender shall not become liable under the provisions of this Agreement or
any lease executed pursuant to Section 26 hereof unless and until such time as it becomes, and then only
for as long as it remains, the owner of the leasehold estate created hereby or thereby.

(e) This Agreement shall not be amended or modified without the consent of Lender. In the
event that Lender shall become the owner of such leasehold estate, Lender shall not be bound by any
modification or amendment of this Agreement made subsequent to the date of a Tenant Mortgage unless
Lender shall have consented to such modification or amendment at the time it was made.

26. RIGHT TO NEW LEASE.

9
VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name RED OAK



(a) In the case of termination of this Agreement for any reason, or in the event this Agreement
is rejected or disaffirmed pursuant to any bankruptcy, insolvency or other law affecting creditor’s rights,
Landlord shall give prompt notice thereof to Lender at the address set forth in Section 29 or as may be
provided to Landlord by Tenant following the Commencement Date. Thereafter, Landlord, upon written
request of Lender, and within thirty (30) days after the receipt of such request, shall promptly execute and
deliver a new lease of the Premises and assignment of all subleases and licenses to Lender or its designee
or nominee, for the remainder of the Term upon all the covenants, conditions, limitations and agreements
contained herein (including, without limitation, options to extend the Term) except for such provisions
which must be modified to reflect such termination, rejection or disaffirmance and the passage of time,
provided that Lender (i) shall pay to Landlord, simultaneously with the delivery of such new lease, all
unpaid rent due under this Agreement up to and including the date of the commencement of the term of
such new lease and all reasonable expenses, including, without limitation, reasonable attorneys’ fees and
disbursements and court costs, incurred by Landlord in connection with the default by Tenant, the
termination of this Agreement and the preparation of the new lease, and (ii) shall cure all defaults existing
under this Agreement which are susceptible to being cured by Lender promptly and with due diligence after
the delivery of such new lease. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, provided Lender
shall have otherwise complied with the provisions of this Section, Lender shall have no obligation to cure
any defaults which are not susceptible to being cured by Lender (for example, the bankruptcy of Tenant).

(b) For so long as Lender shall have the right to enter into a new lease with Landlord pursuant
to this Section, Landlord shall not enter into a new lease of the Premises with any person or entity other
than Lender, without the prior written consent of Lender.

27. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS.

(a) The parties hereto agree that (i) Tenant is in possession of the Premises notwithstanding
the fact that Tenant has subleased or licensed, or may in the future sublease or license, certain of the
improvements thereon or portions of the Premises to third parties, and (ii) the requirements of Section
365(h) of Title 1 1 of the United States Code (the Bankruptcy Code) with respect to Tenant’s possession of
the leasehold under this Agreement are satisfied. Accordingly, the right of Tenant to remain in possession
of the leasehold under this Agreement shall continue notwithstanding any rejection of this Agreement in
any bankruptcy proceeding involving Landlord, or any other actions by any party in such a proceeding.
This provision, while included in this Agreement, has been separately negotiated and shall constitute a
separate contract between the parties as well as a part of this Agreement. The provisions of this Section are
for the benefit of Tenant and its assigns, including, without limitation, Lender. The parties hereto also agree
that Lender is a party in interest and shall have the right to appear as a party in any proceeding brought
under any bankruptcy law or under any other law which may affect this Agreement.

(b) The provisions of Section 25 and Section 26 hereof shall survive the termination, rejection
or disaffirmance of this Agreement and shall continue in full force and effect thereafter to the same extent
as if such Sections were a separate and independent contract made by Landlord, Tenant and Lender and,
from the effective date of such termination, rejection or disaffirmance of this Agreement to the date of
execution and delivery of such new lease, Lender may use and enjoy the leasehold estate created by this
Agreement without hindrance by Landlord. The aforesaid agreement of Landlord to enter into a new lease
with Lender shall be deemed a separate agreement between Landlord and Lender, separate and apart from
this Agreement as well as a part of this Agreement, and shall be unaffected by the rejection of this
Agreement in any bankruptcy proceeding by any party.

10
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



(c) Landlord shall have no right, and expressly waives any right arising under applicable law,
in and to the rentals or other fees payable to Tenant, if any, under any sublease or license of the Premises
by Tenant, which rentals or fees may be assigned by Tenant to Lender.

(d) If a Tenant Mortgage is in effect, this Agreement shall not be modified or amended by the
parties hereto, or terminated or surrendered by Tenant, nor shall Landlord accept any such termination or
surrender of this Agreement by Tenant, without the prior written consent of Lender.

(e) The provisions of Section 25 and Section 26 hereof are for the benefit of Lender and may
be relied upon and shall be enforceable by Lender as if Lender were a party to this Agreement.

(f) Landlord shall, within ten (10) days of the request of Tenant or any Lender or prospective
Lender, provide an estoppel certificate as to any matters reasonably requested by Tenant or Lender.

(g) The right to extend or renew this Agreement and any right of first refusal to purchase the
Premises may be exercisable by the holder of a Tenant Mortgage and, before the expiration of any periods
to exercise such a right, Landlord must provide to Lender at least thirty (30) days prior written notice before
the expiration of the right to so extend or renew in order to extinguish Lender’s right to so extend, renew or
purchase.

(h) Under no circumstances shall the fee estate of Landlord and the leasehold estate created
hereby merge, even though owned by the same party, without the written consent of the holder of a Tenant
Mortgage.

28. QUIET ENJOYMENT. So long as Tenant is not in default under this Agreement beyond the
applicable notice and cure period, Landlord covenants and agrees that Tenant shall peaceably and quietly
hold and enjoy the Premises throughout the Term, without any hindrance, molestation or ejection by
Landlord, its successors or assigns or by those claiming by, through or under them.

29. NOTICES. All notices, requests, claims, demands, and other communications hereunder shall be
in writing and may be hand delivered (provided the deliverer provides proof of delivery) or sent by
nationally established overnight courier that provides proof of delivery, or certified or registered mail
(postage prepaid, return receipt requested). Notice shall be deemed received on the date of delivery as
demonstrated by the receipt of delivery. Notices shall be delivered to a party at the party’s respective
address below, or to such other address that a party below may provide from time to time:

If to Landlord: If to Tenant: If to Lender:
Vensel Family Trust The Towers, LLC Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC

750 Park of Commerce Drive, t
Suite 200
Boca Raton, Florida 33487
Ref: US-MN-5154
Attn: VP Asset Management

With a copy to: General Counsel

Attn: Admin Agent

30. MISCELLANEOUS.

(a) Each party hereto warrants and represents that it has the necessary power and authority to
enter into and perform its respective obligations under this Agreement.

11
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



(b) If any term of this Agreement is found to be void or invalid, such invalidity shall not affect
the remaining terms of this Agreement, which shall continue in full force and effect.

(c) All attached exhibits are hereby incorporated by this reference as if fully set forth herein.

(d) Failure of a party to insist on strict performance of any of the conditions or provisions of
this Agreement, or failure to exercise any of a party’s rights hereunder, shall not waive such rights.

(e) This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the
State or Commonwealth in which the Premises are located.

(f) This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement and understanding of the parties and
supersedes all offers, negotiations, other leases and/or agreements with regard to the Premises. There are
no representations or understandings of any kind not set forth herein. Any amendment to this Agreement
must be in writing and executed by both parties.

(g) This Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the parties hereto
and their respective heirs, legal representatives, successors and assigns.

(h) A short-form Memorandum of Option to Lease (and a short-form Memorandum of Lease
in the event Tenant exercises its option to lease the Premises) may be recorded at Landlord’s or Tenant’s
option in the form as depicted in Exhibit 3 and Exhibit 4, respectively, attached hereto. In addition,
Tenant’s subtenants and licensees shall have the right to record a memorandum of its sublease or license
with Tenant.

(i) Landlord shall keep the terms of this Agreement confidential and shall not disclose any
terms contained within this Agreement to any third party other than such terms as are set forth in the
Memorandum of Option to Lease or Memorandum of Lease.

SIGNATURES BEGIN ON NEXT PAGE

12
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this Agreement as of the Effective
Date (date last signed by a party hereto).

WITNESSES:

c Janet /TtoWsKL

LANDLORD:

Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012

By:^^
Larry VensMj/Trustee

__Ou ha

Date:^

A

Name: /?Wkgfr-
Susan K. Vensel, Trustee

Date: 1 0(-Ze|^Qayt



Docusign Envelope ID: FC4A4A6E-A888-4592-AB12-5B282086ADF1

(Tenant signature page to Option and Lease Agreement)

WITNESSES: TENANT:

The Towers, LLC
a Delaware limited liability cpHtpany

By: '

Name:—Randy Wilson
Vice President Development

Title-

Name:^/-*^?^^^ i



EXHIBIT 1

Legal Description of the Property (Parent Parcel)
(may be updated by Tenant upon receipt of final legal description from title)

Real property in Hennepin County, Minnesota, descnbed as follows:

The East 345 feet of the South 632 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36,
Township 118 North, Range 24 West of the 5th Principal Meridian, subject to the right of way of a public
road along the South and East sides thereof.

Parcel ID: 36-118-24-44-0009

Being the same property conveyed to Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K.Vensel, or successor(s), as Trustees
of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012 in Warranty Deed from Larry Vensel a/k/a Lawrence
Vensel and Susan Vensel, mamed to each other dated October 28. 2022 and recorded December 5, 2022
in Instrument No. 11167056.

15
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



EXHIBIT 2

Premises
(below may be replaced with a final survey and legal description of the Premises)

16
VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



EXHIBIT 3

Memorandum of Option to Lease

(Attached)

17
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name. RED OAK



(Above 3” Space for Recorder’s Use Only)
Upon Recording Return to:

The Towers, LLC
750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200
Boca Raton, Florida 33487
Attn: General Counsel

Site Name: RED OAK
Site Number: US-MN-5154
Commitment #: VTB-184896-C

MEMORANDUM OF OPTION TO LEASE

This Memorandum of Option to Lease (this “Memorandum”) evidences an Option and Lease
Agreement (the “Agreement”) between Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K. Vensel, or successors(s) as
Trustees of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012 (“Landlord”), whose address is

, and The Towers, LLC, a Delaware limited liability
company, doing business in the State of Minnesota as The Towers BTS of Minnesota LLC, a Delaware
limited liability company (“Tenant”), whose address is 750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200, Boca
Raton, Florida 33487, dated. , 202M (the “Effective Date”),
for a portion (the “Premises”) of the real property (the “Property”) described in Exhibit A attached hereto.

Pursuant to the Agreement, Landlord has granted Tenant an exclusive option to lease the Premises
(the “Option”). The Option commenced as of the Effective Date and shall continue in effect for a period of
four (4) years from the Effective Date.

Landlord ratifies, restates and confirms the Agreement and, upon exercise of the Option, shall lease
to Tenant the Premises, subject to the terms and conditions of the Agreement. The Agreement provides for
the lease by Landlord to Tenant of the Premises for an initial term of five (5) years with nine (9) renewal
option(s) of an additional five (5) years each, and further provides:

1. Landlord may assign the Agreement only in its entirety and only to a purchaser of the fee
interest of the Property;

2. Under certain circumstances, Tenant has a right of first refusal to acquire the Premises or
the Property from Landlord;

3. Under certain circumstances, Landlord may subdivide the Property without Tenant’s prior
written consent; and

18
VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name RED OAK



4. The Agreement restricts Landlord’s ability to utilize, or allow the utilization of the Property
or real property owned by Landlord which is adjacent or contiguous to the Property for the construction,
operation and/or maintenance of the Communications Facilities (as defined in the Agreement).

This Memorandum is not intended to amend or modify, and shall not be deemed or construed as
amending or modifying, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of the Agreement. In the event of a
conflict between the provisions of this Memorandum and the provisions of the Agreement, the provisions
of the Agreement shall control. The Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Landlord
and Tenant and shall inure to the benefit of their respective heirs, successors, and assigns, subject to the
provisions of the Agreement.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK, SIGNATURES
BEGIN ON NEXT PAGE

19
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this MEMORANDUM OF OPTION
TO LEASE effective as of the date last signed by a party hereto.

WITNESSES:

iTtan foidsK i

LANDLORD:

Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012

Larry Vensel,̂ Jyustee

Name: Date: IO . Z- •

AName^LE^^
Susan K. Vensel, Trustee

Date:.

20
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



Docusign Envelope ID: FC4A4A6E-A888-4592-AB12-5B282086ADF1

(Tenant’s Signature Page to Memorandum of Option to Lease)

(XtteNbThus instrument was acknowledged before me
H jl 4UKtlUX) 1 (name of signatory) as

of signatory) of The Towers, LLC.

, 20^ . by —(title

Notary Public

Print Name: /tothfort
My Commission Expires:

• ^otery Public State of Florida. A ‘ Elise Reichbach
< Mflmitaa Wy Commission HH 283047 t
< Expires 7/16/2026 &
4 w w »

_
w 1

VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



EXHIBIT A
(TO MEMORANDUM OF OPTION TO LEASE)

The Property
(may be updated by Tenant upon receipt of final legal description from title)

Real property in Hennepin County, Minnesota, described as follows:

The East 345 feet of the South 632 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36,
Township 118 North, Range 24 West of the 5th Principal Meridian, subject to the right of way of a public
road along the South and East sides thereof.

Parcel ID: 36-118-24-44-0009

Being the same property conveyed to Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K. Vensel, or successors), as Trustees
of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012 in Warranty Deed from Larry Vensel a/k/a Lawrence
Vensel and Susan Vensel, married to each other dated October 28. 2022 and recorded December 5, 2022
in Instrument No. 11167056.

Access and utilities serving the Premises (as defined in the Agreement) includes all easements of record as
well as that portion of the Property designated by Landlord and Tenant for Tenant (and Tenant’s guests,
agents, customers, subtenants, licensees and assigns) ingress, egress, and utility purposes to and from a
public right-of-way.

22
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



EXHIBIT 4

Memorandum of Lease

(Attached)

23
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



(Above 3” Space for Recorder’s Use Only)
Upon Recording Return to:

The Towers, LLC
750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200
Boca Raton, Florida 33487
Attn: General Counsel

Site Name: RED OAK
Site Number: US-MN-5154
Commitment #: VTB-184896-C

MEMORANDUM OF LEASE

This Memorandum of Lease (this “Memorandum”) evidences a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”)
between Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K. Vensel, or successors(s) as Trustees of the Vensel Family
Trust dated February 10, 2012 (“Landlord”), whose address is

, and The Towers, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company, doing business in the
State of Minnesota as The Towers BTS of Minnesota LLC, a Delaware limited liability company
(“Tenant”), whose address is 750 Park of Commerce Drive, Suite 200, Boca Raton, Florida 33487, dated
the I h ' v day of Q C 4'ol^r' , 202.4 (the “Effective Date”), for a
portion (the “Premises”) of the real property (the “Property”) described in Exhibit A attached hereto.

Landlord hereby ratifies, restates and confirms the Lease and leases to Tenant the Premises, subject
to the terms and conditions of the Lease. The Commencement Date of the Lease is .
The Lease provides for the lease by Landlord to Tenant of the Premises for an initial term of five (5) years
with nine (9) renewal option(s) of an additional five (5) years each, and further provides:

1. Landlord will attorn to any mortgagee of Tenant, subordinate any Landlord’s lien to the
Lease and to liens of Tenant’s mortgagees, and not disturb the tenancy of Tenant;

2. The Lease restricts Landlord’s ability to utilize, or allow the utilization of the Property or
real property owned by Landlord which is adjacent or contiguous to the Property for the construction,
operation and/or maintenance of Communications Facilities (as defined in the Lease);

3. Tenant (and persons deriving rights by, through, or under Tenant) are the sole parties to
market, use, or sublease any portion of the Property for Communications Facilities during the term of the
Lease (such restriction shall run with the land and be binding on the successors and assigns of Landlord);

24
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



4. The Premises may be used exclusively by Tenant for all legal purposes, including, without
limitation, erecting, installing, operating and maintaining Communications Facilities;

5. Tenant is entitled to sublease and/or license the Premises, including any Communications
Facilities located thereon;

6. Under certain circumstances, Tenant has a right of first refusal to acquire the Premises from
Landlord;

7. Landlord may assign the Lease only in its entirety and only to a purchaser of the fee interest
of the Property; and

8. Under certain circumstances, Landlord may subdivide the Property without Tenant’s prior
written consent.

This Memorandum is not intended to amend or modify, and shall not be deemed or construed as
amending or modifying, any of the terms, conditions or provisions of the Lease. In the event of a conflict
between the provisions of this Memorandum and the provisions of the Lease, the provisions of the Lease
shall control. The Lease shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of Landlord and Tenant and shall
inure to the benefit of their respective heirs, successors, and assigns, subject to the provisions of the Lease.

THE REMAINDER OF THIS PAGE IS INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK, SIGNATURES
BEGIN ON NEXT PAGE

25
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this MEMORANDUM OF LEASE
as of the date last signed by a party hereto.

WITNESSES: LANDLORD:

Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012

Larry VenseJZfrustee

Date: 10 2’ TOTtl

By:.^7d34c(,^L^
Susan K. Vensel, Trustee

Date: IQ

NameZ

CUJ
Name: >

STATE OF

COUNTY OF

This instrument was acknowledged before me , 20 'ZH by
I Z1\ e MerxSeA (name of signatory) and \>enSc\
as Trustees (title of signatory) of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012.

My Commission Expires: 6' S\ TOTS'

BAYLE ANDREWS
Notary Public

State of Minnesota
My Commission Expires

January 31, 2025

26
VB Site ID US-MN-5154
VB Site Name REDOAK



Docusign Envelope ID: FC4A4A6E-A888-4592-AB12-5B282086ADF1

(Tenant’s Signature Page to Memorandum of Lease)

WITNESSES: TENANT:

The Towers, LLC

By: 4^
Name- Randy Wilson

Name: Vice President Development
Title:

Da.e:_J5ht>TO



EXHIBIT A
(TO MEMORANDUM OF LEASE)

The Property
(may be updated by Tenant upon receipt of final legal description from title)

Real property in Hennepin County, Minnesota, descnbed as follows:

The East 345 feet of the South 632 feet of the Southeast Quarter of the Southeast Quarter of Section 36,
Township 118 North, Range 24 West of the 5th Principal Meridian, subject to the rght of way of a public
road along the South and East sides thereof.

Parcel ID: 36-118-24-44-0009

Being the same property conveyed to Lawrence F. Vensel & Susan K. Vensel, or successors), as Trustees
of the Vensel Family Trust dated February 10, 2012 in Warranty Deed from Larry Vensel a/k/a Lawrence
Vensel and Susan Vensel, mamed to each other dated October 28. 2022 and recorded December 5, 2022
in Instrument No. 11167056.

Access and utilities serving the Premises (as defined in the Lease) includes all easements of record as well
as that portion of the Property designated by Landlord and Tenant for Tenant (and Tenant’s guests, agents,
customers, subtenants, licensees and assigns) ingress, egress, and utility purposes to and from a public right-
of-way.

Said interest being over land more particularly described by the following description:

Insert metes and bounds description of area

28
VB Site ID: US-MN-5154
VB Site Name: RED OAK



3850	County	Line	Road	IUP	Request	–	Planning	Commission	 	
	 Page	1	
 

City of Independence 
Request for an Interim Use Permit to Allow a Kennel on the  

Property located at 3850 County Line Road  
 

To: City Council 

From: Mark Kaltsas, City Planner 

Meeting Date: March 18, 2025 

Applicant: Christine Parr  

Owner: Christine Parr 

Location: 3850 County Line Road 

 

Request: 
Christine Parr (Applicant/Owner) requests that the City consider the following action for the Property 
located at 3850 County Line Road Independence, MN (PID No. 07-118-24-22-0006): 
 

a. An interim use permit (IUP) to allow a non-commercial kennel (five personal dogs) on the 
subject property.   

 
 
Property/Site Information: 
The property is located east side of County Line Road on the very west edge of the city.  The property has 
open areas, wetlands and woodlands located throughout the property. There is a new home that was just 
completed on the property.  The property has the following characteristics: 
 

Property Information: 3850 County Line Road  
 Zoning: Agriculture 
 Comprehensive Plan: Agriculture 
 Acreage: 19.50 acres 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



3850	County	Line	Road	IUP	Request	–	Planning	Commission	 	
	 Page	2	
 

3850 County Line Road  

 
 
Discussion: 
The applicant is seeking an Interim Use Permit to allow a private dog kennel on the subject property.  A 
kennel is defined as follows: 
 

"Kennel."  Any structure or premises on which four or more dogs over six months of age are kept.   
 
The applicants recently purchased the property and are finalizing the construction of a new home.  The 
applicant has noted that they currently have five (5) personal dogs that would move onto the property with 
them upon completion of the new home.  The applicant would keep the dogs inside of the home.  The 
applicant has noted that they will be fencing in a part of the yard to contain the dogs.   

The criteria for granting an interim use permit are clearly delineated in the City’s Zoning Ordinance (Section 
520.17 subd. 1, a-e) as follows:  

520.17. Criteria for granting an interim use permit. 

Subd. 1. The city council may issue interim use permits for an interim use of property provided the proposed use 
meets all of the following criteria:  



3850	County	Line	Road	IUP	Request	–	Planning	Commission	 	
	 Page	3	
 

(a) The use is deemed to be temporary, and the use conforms to the development and performance 
standards of the zoning regulations herein;  

(b) The date or event that will terminate the use can be identified with certainty;  

(c) Allowing the use will not impose additional costs on the public if it is necessary for the public to take 
the property in the future;  

(d) The user agrees to any conditions that the city council deems appropriate for allowing the use; and  

(e) The use meets the standards set forth in subsection 520.11 governing conditional use permits.  

 
The city has issued interim use permits for similar types of uses that don’t conform to all applicable 
standards of the ordinance but are generally in keeping with the spirit and intent.  The applicant is not 
proposing to board or keep any animals on the property other than their personal dogs.  The city can utilize 
conditions in the IUP that will ensure that no other dogs are kept on the premise.  One of the most notable 
issues with kennels is related to noise due to dogs barking.  Given that the property is 20 acres, and that 
the applicant is going to keep the dogs within the principal home, the potential for noise related issues is 
likely minimized.  
 
As the proposed use relates to the criteria for granting an IUP, the following items should be noted: 
 

 The number of dogs permitted on the property shall be limited to five (5). 
 

 The dogs will be permitted within the principal structure and fenced area (will need to establish 
an exhibit and attach to the IUP).   

 
 The proposed IUP will not create an increase (beyond that of a residential property of like 

character, size and location) in noise or offensive odors, fumes dust, or vibrations for the 
surrounding properties.   

 
 The interim use permit will expire upon the conveyance of the property or the sale or cessation 

of the kennel, whichever occurs first. 
 
The Planning Commission will need to review the request and determine that all criteria for granting an 
interim use permit have been satisfied by the applicant.  Based on the discussion and public hearing it may 
be necessary to consider additional conditions if recommended for approval.  
 

 

Neighbor Comments: 

The City has not received any written comments regarding the proposed interim use permit.   

 

 

 



3850	County	Line	Road	IUP	Request	–	Planning	Commission	 	
	 Page	4	
 

Recommendation: 

Staff is seeking a recommendation from the Planning Commission for the request for an Interim Use Permit.  
Should Planning Commission recommend approval of the request, the following findings and conditions should be 
considered: 

1. The proposed Interim Use Permit request meets all applicable conditions and restrictions stated 
Chapter V, Section 510, Zoning, in the City of Independence Zoning Ordinance. 
 

2. The number of dogs permitted on the property at any time shall be limited to five (5). 
 

 The dogs will be permitted within the principal structure and fenced area (will need to establish an 
exhibit and attach to the IUP).   

 
 The proposed IUP will not create an increase (beyond that of a residential property of like character, 

size and location) in noise or offensive odors, fumes dust, or vibrations for the surrounding 
properties.   

 
3. There shall be no employees other than property owner and family “staffing” the kennel at any time 

on the property. 
 

4. Any expansions (increase in number of dogs), additions or other changes to the proposed interim 
use will require an amendment to the interim use permit. 

 
5. The City Council may revoke the interim use permit if the applicant violates any of the conditions set 

forth in the IUP. 
 

6. The interim use permit will expire upon the conveyance of the property or the sale or cessation of the 
kennel, whichever occurs first. 

 
 
 

Attachments: 

1. Application 
 

 

 

 

 

 



Date Submitted: 01-31-2025

Applicant Information Owner Information

Name: Christine A Parr

Address: 3850 County Line Rd se
Independence, Minnesota 
55328

Primary Phone: 612-481-5061

Email: pitpro@comcast.net

Name: Christine A Parr

Address: 3850 County Line Rd se
Independence, Minnesota 
55328

Primary Phone: 612-481-5061

Email: pitpro@comcast.net

Property Address:

PID:

Planning Application Type: Interim Use Permit

Description:

Supporting Documents: Site Survey (Existing Conditions)

Signature:

We have 5 dogs as our family members. We bought the property which is 20 acres and plan on fencing in part of 
the yard. This would only be for our personal use. I am attaching an aerial view of the property. Thank you very 
much! We look forward to becoming residents of Independence.


	US-MN-5154_Red_Oak_PCD_RevC_01232025.pdf
	Sheets and Views
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-T-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-T-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-1.1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-3
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-4
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-5
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-6
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-7
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-A-8
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-G-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-G-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-G-3
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-U-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-U-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW A-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW A-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW A-3
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW A-4
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW A-5
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW G-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW G-2
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW U-1
	CDs_US-MN-5154_MIN_Red_Oak_11072024_SJD-VZW U-2



